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notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting 
of nib holdings limited and its subsidiaries. nib holdings limited 
is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia. 

The Financial Report was authorised for issue by the Directors 
on 20 August 2021. The company has the power to amend and 
reissue the Financial Report.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Significant and other accounting policies that summarise the 
measurement basis used and are relevant to the understanding 
of financial statements are provided throughout the notes to the 
financial statements.

a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board) and the Corporations Act 2001. nib holdings 
limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements.

i) Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of nib holdings limited 
Group also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

ii) Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
claims liabilities and financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss.

iii) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified 
to achieve consistency in disclosure with the current year.

The comparatives in the Consolidated Income Statement have 
been amended between Claims Expense and RESA Levy for 
$12.3 million between these two line items.

b) Principles of consolidation

i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and 
liabilities of all subsidiaries of nib holdings limited (‘parent entity’) 
as at 30 June 2021 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year 
then ended. nib holdings limited and its subsidiaries together are 
referred to in this financial report as the Group.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over 
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when 
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has ability to affect those 
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the 
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

ii) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant 
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the 
case where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting 
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting (see (iii) below), after initially being 
recognised at cost.

iii) Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are 
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the 
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements 
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from 
associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the 
carrying amount of the investment. 

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted 
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including 
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its 
associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity 
accounted investees have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

iv) Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests 
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity 
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in 
an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests 
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration 
paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity 
attributable to owners of nib holdings limited.

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or 
significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount 
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial 
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for 
the retained interest as an associate, jointly controlled entity or 
financial asset.

1.  Summary of significant accounting policies

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



nib holdings limited | Annual Report 2021 51

c) Foreign currency translation

i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars, which is nib holdings limited’s functional and 
presentation currency.

ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
period end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, 
except when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow 
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable 
to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings 
are presented in the income statement, within finance costs. All 
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the 
income statement on a net basis within other income or other 
expenses. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences 
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as 
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation 
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as 
equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in 
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation 
differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified 
as available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of 
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have 
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented 
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 
balance sheet;

• income and expenses for each income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income are translated at 
average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing 
on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses 
are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition 
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

d) Assets backing private health insurance liabilities

As part of the investment strategy, the Group actively manages 
its investment portfolio to ensure that a portion of its investments 
mature in accordance with the expected pattern of future cash 
flows arising from private health insurance liabilities.

The Group has determined that all financial assets of nib health 
funds limited and nib nz limited are held to back private health 
insurance liabilities. Financial assets that are not held to back 
private health insurance liabilities are designated as Financial 
assets at amortised cost.

e) Rounding of amounts

The company is of a kind referred to in Instrument 2016/191, 
issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the Financial 
Report. Amounts in the Financial Report have been rounded 
off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest hundred 
thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

f)  New and amended standards and interpretations 
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standard and amendment 
for the current reporting period commencing 1 January 2020. Any 
new or amended accounting standards or interpretations that are 
not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

• Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and 
AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework

The amendment above did not have any impact on the amounts 
recognised in prior periods and is not expected to significantly 
affect the current or future periods.

Following the IFRS Interpretations Committee agenda decision 
on Configuration or Customisation Costs in a Cloud Computing 
Arrangement in March 2021, the Group has reconsidered its 
accounting treatment and adopted the treatment set out in the 
IFRS IC agenda decision, which is to recognise those costs as 
intangible assets only if the implementation activities create 
an intangible asset that the entity controls and the intangible 
asset meets the recognition criteria. Refer to Note 31 Change in 
Accounting Policy for the impact of this change.
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financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

g) New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2021 reporting 
periods. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below.

Title of standard Nature of change and impact Mandatory application date

AASB 17 
Insurance 
Contracts

On 19 July 2017, Australian Accounting Standard Board issued AASB 17 Insurance 
Contracts, incorporating the recently issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. This will 
replace AASB 4 Insurance Contracts, AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts 
and AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts. IFRS 17 will change the accounting for 
insurance contracts by nib.

The standard introduces three new measurement approaches for accounting for 
insurance contracts. These include the Building Block Approach for long term 
contracts, the Premium Allocation Approach for short term contracts and a Variable 
Fee Approach for direct participating products.

The Group, being the Ultimate Parent nib holdings limited and its subsidiaries, has 
formed a project team to assess the impact of this change on the operations and 
financial statements of the business.

The Group is also a member of the PHI industry and AASB 17 Insurance Contracts 
Transition Resource Group (TRG).

Initial investigation into the application for the standard indicates it is likely that the 
Premium Allocation Approach will apply to the Group’s insurance contracts. This 
will simplify the implementation of the standard as no significant modifications to 
IT systems will be required.

Under the Premium Allocation Approach the Group will have the option to 
expense acquisition costs each year, which would result in the write-off of any 
Deferred Acquisition Costs and associated tax liabilities to retained profits on 
implementation.

Mandatory for financial 
years commencing on 
or after 1 January 2023. 
At this stage, the Group 
does not intend to adopt 
the standard before its 
effective date.

2. Critical accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions in respect of certain key assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the Group’s assessment of these assumptions and forward looking estimates, and 
management have accordingly adjusted them to reflect the change in risk. Specifics of the impact on estimates are detailed in 
each note.

The key areas in which critical estimates are applied are:

Note 12 Deferred acquisition costs

Note 14 Goodwill and indefinite life intangibles impairment and useful life of brand names and trademarks

Note 18 Claims liabilities – Outstanding claims liability and Provision for deferred and suspended claims

Note 19 Liability adequacy test

Note 20 Premium payback liabilities

1.  Summary of significant accounting policies continued 
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3. Risk management

The Board of nib is ultimately responsible for the Group’s risk management framework and oversees the Group’s operations by 
ensuring that management operates within the approved risk appetite statement. The Board approved the Group’s overall risk 
management strategy, risk appetite and policies and practices to ensure that risks are identified and managed within the context of 
this appetite.

The Board’s sub committees, including the Audit Committee, Investment Committee and the Risk and Reputation Committee assist 
the Board in the execution of its responsibilities. The responsibilities of these Committees are detailed in their respective Charters.

The Group’s risk management framework is based on a three lines of defence model and provides defined risk ownership 
responsibilities with functionally independent oversight and assurance. The Group manages risks through:

• the governance structure established by the Board, 

• implementation of the risk management framework by management,

• oversight of the risk management framework by the Risk function,

• the Group’s internal policies and procedures designed to identify and mitigate risks,

• internal audit which provides independent assurance to the Board regarding the appropriateness, effectiveness and adequacy of 
controls over activities where risks are perceived to be high,

• regular risk and compliance reporting to the Board and relevant Board Committees,

• application of solvency and capital adequacy standards for nib health funds limited (regulated by APRA) and nib New Zealand 
(regulated by RBNZ).

The Group’s objective is to manage the Group’s risks in line with the Board approved risk appetite statement. Various procedures are 
in place to identify, mitigate and monitor the risks faced by the Group. Management are responsible for understanding and managing 
risks, including financial and non-financial risks. The Group’s exposure to all high and critical risks, and other key enterprise risks, is 
reported quarterly to the Board via the Risk and Reputation Committee.

During the year we continued to invest in and strengthen our risk management systems and practices to reflect our strong 
commitment to risk and compliance in alignment with APRA Prudential Standard CPS 220 – Risk Management. 

The financial condition and operations of the Group are affected by a number of Principal Risks and Uncertainties. High level 
descriptions of these risks are included in the Operating and Financial Review (see pages 4 to 12), including Insurance Risks, 
Financial Risks, Strategic Risks and Operational Risks as categorised in nib’s Risk Management Strategy. Realisation of these risks 
can have both financial and/or non-financial impacts. 

Similarly to last year, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy has continued to result in increased insurance 
and financial risk to the Group. This heightened level of uncertainty and risk is managed as part of the Group’s Risk Management 
Framework.

Further material is contained in the notes below on the exposures and mitigation of specific risks with discrete financial impacts.

Category Risks

Insurance risks Pricing 

Claims inflation 

Risk equalisation (Australia only)

Financial risks Fair value interest rate risk

Foreign exchange risk

Price risk

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Capital management (see Note 27)
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a) Insurance risk

Insurance risk is the risk that inadequate or inappropriate underwriting, claims management, product design and pricing will expose 
the Group to financial loss from claims expenditure exceeding the amount implicit in premium income.

Insurance risk is seen as a key risk to our PHI focused businesses. There are a number of sources of risk that require nib to closely 
review and monitor our control strategies. These risks have Board oversight. These sources include:

Description Exposure Mitigation

Pricing risk Forecasting and pricing is a core capability within the 
Group. Without effective controls there is potential for poor 
quality forecasting. This could result in a range of negative 
outcomes, including: pricing decisions that do not align 
with nib strategic goals, material impact to nib financial 
performance; and failure to comply with ASX Listing Rule 
Continuous Disclosure obligations. Control failures could 
also impact annual pricing approval decisions by the 
Minister for Health. Amendments or rejections of price 
applications could have a negative impact on nib’s operating 
and financial performance.

This risk is managed by establishing 
product premiums through the use of 
actuarial models based on historical claims 
costs and forecast claims inflation.

Pricing recommendations are externally 
reviewed by the Appointed Actuary.

The Group works collaboratively with 
Government, regulators and other 
stakeholders to improve health insurance 
premium affordability through industry 
reforms and health policy setting. 

Claims inflation The Group is subject to significant claims inflation which 
may not be adequately covered by premium price increases 
and/or product design changes. 

In Australia the principle of community rating prevents 
private health insurers from improperly discriminating 
between people who are or wish to be insured, on the basis 
of their health status, age, race, gender, religious beliefs, 
sexuality, frequency of need of health care, lifestyle or 
claims history. 

Claims patterns are monitored and 
premiums calculated accordingly.

Governance, contractual and control 
procedures are in place for key benefits 
and provider relationships. 

Maintenance of reserves in excess 
of minimum solvency and capital 
requirements allows the Group to 
withstand increased levels of claims 
inflation.

Risk equalisation 
special account 
arrangements

Risk equalisation arrangements apply to the registered 
health insurance industry in Australia. Under these 
arrangements all registered health insurers effectively 
provide reinsurance support so that the industry as a whole 
shares the hospital cost of high risk groups irrespective of 
the policyholder or private health fund related to the claim.

Risk equalisation provides some protection 
to high cost claims however exposes the 
Group to claims from other health insurers. 
Actuarial models are used to monitor 
past experience and predict future costs, 
premiums are calculated accordingly.

3. Risk management continued
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b) Fair value interest rate risk

Description Exposure Mitigation

Risk of fluctuations 
in interest rates 
impacting the 
Group’s financial 
performance or 
the fair value of its 
financial instruments.

The Group has interest rate risk arises from long-term 
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued 
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate 
risk if the borrowings are carried at fair value. The Group’s 
borrowings at variable rate were denominated in Australian 
and New Zealand Dollars.

The Group’s other interest rate risks arise from:

• receivables;

• financial assets at amortised cost;

• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and 

• cash and cash equivalents. 

All other receivables are non-interest bearing. There is an 
interest-bearing component of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss.

The Group mitigates interest rate risk on 
long term borrowings by maintaining an 
appropriate gearing ratio and monitoring 
and forecasting key indicators such as 
interest expense coverage.

nib has a defined investment strategy and 
risk/return objectives, that is aligned to the 
strategic plan and capital management 
plans, overseen by the Investment 
Committee and assisted by asset 
management consultants. 

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following variable rate borrowings outstanding:

2021 2020

Weighted 
average interest 

rate
%

Balance
$m

Weighted 
average interest 

rate
%

Balance
$m

Bank loans 1.5% 230.7 2.3% 230.9 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 230.7 230.9 

The bank overdraft comprised of the closing positive balance of the bank account, adjusted for unpresented cheques and outstanding 
deposits is not included in bank loans.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rate risk has increased with the COVID-19 associated economic impact. The Group has shown the 
impact of a change in 100 bps to reflect this increased risk. An analysis by maturities is provided at 3(f). The table below summarises 
the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk.

2021 2020

Interest rate risk -100bps +100bps -100bps +100bps

Carrying 
amount

$m

Profit 
after tax

$m

Profit 
after tax

$m

Carrying 
amount

$m

Profit 
after tax

$m

Profit 
after tax

$m

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 213.9 (1.5) 1.5 198.0 (1.4) 1.4 

Other receivables 27.4 (0.2) 0.2 22.6 (0.2) 0.2 

Financial assets at amortised cost 7.7 0.1 (0.1) 8.8 0.1 (0.1)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 870.1 8.1 (8.1) 829.0 13.4 (13.6)

Financial liabilities

Bank loans (230.7) 1.7 (1.7) (230.9) 1.7 (1.7)

Premium payback liability (17.7) (0.5) 0.6 (20.1) (0.7) 0.7 
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c) Foreign exchange risk

Description Exposure Mitigation

Risk of fluctuations 
in foreign exchange 
rates impacting the 
Group’s financial 
performance.

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from foreign currency translation risk 
through its subsidiaries located in overseas jurisdictions. 

In accordance with the policy set out in Note 1(c), foreign 
exchange gains or losses arising on translation of the 
Group’s foreign operations to the Group’s Australian dollar 
presentation currency are recognised in equity through other 
comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains or losses 
arising on assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised directly in profit and loss. 

The Group does not hedge this risk.

The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s equity to a 10% strengthening and weakening of the Australian dollar 
against the foreign currency, with all other variables held constant.

2021 2020

Foreign exchange risk -10% +10% -10% +10% 

Exposure
$m

Profit 
after tax

$m
Equity

$m

Profit 
after tax

$m
Equity

$m
Exposure

$m

Profit 
after tax

$m
Equity

$m

Profit 
after tax

$m
Equity

$m

New Zealand dollar 75.4  – (7.5)  – 7.5 65.6  – (6.5)  – 6.5 

Chinese Yuan 12.3 (0.9)  – 0.9  – 8.6 (0.6)  – 0.6  –

Other 4.1 (0.8) 0.8 0.8 (0.8) 6.9 (0.6) 0.2 0.6 (0.2)

d) Price risk

Description Exposure Mitigation

Risk of fluctuations 
in price of equity 
securities impacting 
the Group’s fair 
value of its financial 
instruments.

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk. 
This arises from investments held by the Group and 
classified on the balance sheet as at fair value through profit 
or loss. The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk.

To manage its price risk the Group has 
adopted an investment strategy which 
delivers a diversified portfolio with a 
heavier weighting to defensive assets 
versus growth assets.

nib has a defined investment strategy and 
risk/return objectives, that is aligned to the 
strategic plan and capital management 
plans, overseen by the Investment 
Committee and assisted by asset 
management consultants. 

The Group’s increased risk relating to price of equity securities as a result of COVID-19 is mitigated by the heavier weighting of the 
Group’s investments to defensive assets versus growth assets.

Profit after tax for the year would increase/decrease as a result of gains/losses on equity securities classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss. The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets to price risk.

2021 2020

Other price risk  -10% unit price +10% unit price  -10% unit price +10% unit price 

 Carrying 
amount 

 $m 

 Profit 
after tax 

 $m 

Profit 
after tax

 $m 

 Carrying 
amount 

 $m 

 Profit 
after tax 

 $m 

Profit 
after tax

 $m 

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 870.1 (15.8) 15.8 829.0 (11.7) 11.7 

3. Risk management continued 
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Methods and assumptions used in preparing sensitivity analysis
The after tax effect on profit and equity of movements in foreign exchange, interest rate and price have been calculated using 
‘reasonably possible’ changes in the risk variables, based on recent interest rate and market movements. 

An interest rate change of 100 basis points will directly affect interest received on cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. 
An interest rate change of 100 basis points will inversely affect the unit price of fixed interest investments. This change has been 
calculated by multiplying the average duration of underlying investments in each portfolio by the interest rate change. All other 
investments are not directly affected by interest rate changes but would be revalued through profit or loss as their unit price changes.

e) Credit risk

Description Exposure Mitigation

Risk that a 
counterparty 
will default on 
its contractual 
obligations, or from 
the decline in the 
credit quality of a 
financial instrument, 
resulting in financial 
loss to the Group.

Credit risk arises from:

• cash and cash equivalents;

• financial assets and deposits with banks and financial 
institutions; and 

• credit exposures to policyholders and the Department 
of Human Services (Private Health Insurance Premiums 
Reduction Scheme). 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value 
of any collateral or other security, at balance date is the 
carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment loss, 
as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial 
statements. Apart from the Department of Human Services 
the Group does not have any material credit risk to any other 
single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments 
entered into.

Directly managed term deposits are held 
with institutions that have at least an 
A-2 credit rating. 

Term deposits held within portfolios 
managed by investment asset consultants 
are in accordance with the relevant 
investment policy statement.

nib has a defined investment strategy and 
risk/return objectives, that is aligned to the 
strategic plan and capital management 
plans, overseen by the Investment 
Committee and assisted by asset 
management consultants. 

Credit risk for premium receivables 
are minimal due to the diversification 
of policyholders. The Private Health 
Insurance Premiums Reduction Scheme 
receivable is due from a government 
organisation under legislation. 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings 
(if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

The Group’s credit risk assessments and loss allowances have been updated for the increased risk of default as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Other receivables
2021

$m
2020

$m

Counterparties with external credit rating 5.0 4.7 

Group 1 – new debtors (relationship less than 6 months) 0.2 0.5 

Group 2 – existing debtors with no defaults in the past 21.8 17.2 

Group 3 – existing debtors with some defaults in the past. All defaults were fully recovered. 0.4 0.2 

 27.4 22.6 

Cash at bank and short-term bank deposits
2021

$m
2020

$m

A-1+ 197.8 183.4 

A-1 13.5 13.7 

A-2 1.0 0.9 

B* 1.6  –

 213.9 198.0 

* Transactional bank account.
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Financial assets at amortised cost
2021

$m
2020

$m

Short-term deposits

A-1+ 7.7 8.8 

 7.7 8.8 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
2021

$m
2020

$m

Interest-bearing securities1

AAA 215.5 158.9 

AA 364.3 378.6 

A 52.7 103.6 

BBB 13.2 19.1 

 645.7 660.2 

1. The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with credit risk are held in unit trusts. The above table summarises the underlying investments of the unit trusts.

f) Liquidity risk

Description Exposure Mitigation

Risk that the Group 
will not be able to 
meet its financial 
obligations as they 
fall due, because of 
lack of liquid assets 
or access to funding 
on acceptable terms.

Liquidity risk arises from:

• trade creditors;

• other payables; 

• lease liabilities; and

• borrowings.

The Group manages liquidity risk by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual 
cash flows and holding a high percentage 
of highly liquid investments.

The bank overdraft within borrowings 
comprises the closing positive balances of 
the bank account, adjusted for unpresented 
cheques and outstanding deposits. 

There are no overdraft facilities.

Maturities of financial liabilities
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Group at 30 June 2021
≤ 1 month

$m
1-3 months

$m
3-12 months

$m
1-5 years

$m
> 5 years

$m

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

$m

Carrying 
amount

$m

Financial Liabilities        

Trade creditors 15.0 5.2 0.6  –  – 20.8 20.8 

Other payables 83.9 12.9 6.9 5.1  – 108.8 108.8

Lease liabilities 0.8 1.6 7.2 36.5 23.3 69.4 57.6 

Borrowings 0.1 0.7 2.5 234.5  – 237.8 232.3 

 99.8 20.4 17.2 276.1 23.3 436.8 419.5

Group at 30 June 2020
≤ 1 month

$m
1-3 months

$m
3-12 months

$m
1-5 years

$m
> 5 years

$m

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

$m

Carrying 
amount

$m

Financial Liabilities        

Trade creditors 12.9 0.6 0.3  –  – 13.8 13.7 

Other payables 80.9 17.7 10.9 6.8 1.0 117.3 117.3

Lease liabilities 0.9 2.6 6.7 41.0 56.8 108.0 82.6 

Borrowings 0.2 0.9 3.0 234.9  – 239.0 232.9 

 94.9 21.8 20.9 282.7 57.8 478.1 446.5

3. Risk management continued
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4. Fair value measurement

a) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are 
recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in 
determining fair value, the Group classifies its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. 
An explanation of each level follows below the table.

The following tables present the Group’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2021 and 
30 June 2020:

Group at 30 June 2021
Level 1

$m
Level 2

$m
Level 3

$m
Total

$m

Assets 

Receivables  – 1.0  – 1.0 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

Equity securities 213.2  –  – 213.2 

Interest-bearing securities 605.2 39.2 1.3 645.7 

Property trusts  –  – 11.2 11.2 

Finance lease receivable  – 12.3  – 12.3 

Total assets 818.4 52.5 12.5 883.4 

Group at 30 June 2020
Level 1

$m
Level 2

$m
Level 3

$m
Total

$m

Assets 

Receivables  – 1.9  – 1.9 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Equity securities 156.1  –  – 156.1 

Interest-bearing securities 633.8 26.4  – 660.2 

Mortgage trusts  – 0.4  – 0.4 

Property trusts 1.8  – 10.5 12.3 

Total assets 791.7 28.7 10.5 830.9 

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of the fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting 
period.

Level 1 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for 
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in active markets (for example interest bearing 
securities) is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. These instruments are 
included in level 2.

Level 3 If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in 
level 3.
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b) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

• The use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

• Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

All of the resulting fair value estimates for financial instruments are included in level 2.

In the circumstances where a valuation technique for financial instruments is based on significant unobservable inputs, those 
instruments are included in level 3. For the Group this includes the valuation of certain property trusts and interest bearing securities. 

c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

The Group’s level 3 investments comprise units in property trusts which hold illiquid investments in unlisted property and interest 
bearing securities which are infrequently traded. The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended 
30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020:

2021
$m

2020
$m

Fair value measurement as at 1 July 10.5 12.9 

Purchased 1.8 0.7 

Sales (0.6) (2.2)

Change in fair value 0.7 (0.9)

Exchange differences 0.1  –

Fair value measurement at end of period 12.5 10.5 

i) Transfers between levels 2 and 3 There were no transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year. 
There were also no changes during the year to any of the valuation techniques applied 
as of 30 June 2020.

ii) Valuation process The valuation of unlisted property and interest bearing securities is based on unit prices 
provided by investment managers.

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value 
measurements:

Description
Fair value

$m Unobservable inputs Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value

At 30 June 2021    

Interest-bearing securities and Unlisted 
property trusts

12.5 Redemption price
Higher/(lower) redemption price (+/- 10%) would 
increase/(decrease) fair value by $1.3m

At 30 June 2020   

Unlisted property trusts 10.5 Redemption price
Higher/(lower) redemption price (+/- 10%) would 
increase/(decrease) fair value by $1.1m

4. Fair value measurement continued
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d) Fair values of other financial instruments

The Group also had another financial instrument which was not measured at fair value in the balance sheet. This had the following fair 
value as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020:

2021 2020

Non-current borrowings

Carrying 
amount

$m
Fair value

$m

Carrying 
amount

$m
Fair value

$m

Bank loans 230.7 230.7 230.9 230.9 

The carrying value less impairment provision of other receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to 
their short-term nature.

5. Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to Executive management. The chief 
operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer (MD/CEO).

The MD/CEO assesses the performance of the operating segments based on underlying operating profit. This measurement basis 
excludes from the operating segments the effects of income and expenditure such as integration costs, merger and acquisition costs, 
new business implementation costs, amortisation of acquired intangibles and impairment of intangibles.

No information regarding assets, liabilities and income tax is provided for individual Australian Residents Health Insurance and 
International (Inbound) Health Insurance segments to the MD/CEO. Furthermore, investment income and expenditure for Australia is 
not allocated to individual Australian segments as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function, which manages the 
cash position of the Australian companies.

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the MD/CEO that are used to make strategic 
decisions.

The MD/CEO considers the business from both a geographic and product perspective and has identified four reportable 
segments:

Australian 
Residents Health 
Insurance 

nib’s core product offering within the Australian private health insurance industry 

New Zealand 
Residents Health 
Insurance

nib’s core product offering within the New Zealand private health insurance industry

International 
(Inbound) Health 
Insurance

nib’s offering of health insurance products for international students and workers

nib Travel nib’s distribution of travel insurance products

‘Unallocated to segments’ includes commission of other insurance products, corporate expenses, share of profit/(loss) of 
Honeysuckle Health and China joint ventures and charitable foundation as they do meet the quantitative requirements for reportable 
segments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2021

Australian 
Residents

Health Insurance
$m

International 
(Inbound) 

Health Insurance
$m

New Zealand
Health Insurance

$m
nib Travel

$m

Unallocated
to segments

$m
Total

$m

Premium revenue 2,185.0 135.6 258.9 1.3  – 2,580.8 

Outwards reinsurance premium expense (10.9) (20.1) (0.3) (0.7)  – (32.0)

Net premium revenue 2,174.1 115.5 258.6 0.6  – 2,548.8 

Claims expense (1,496.1) (96.2) (161.0) (0.6)  – (1,753.9)

Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue 4.9 10.4  – 0.6  – 15.9 

RESA (213.8)  –  –  –  – (213.8)

State levies (36.0)  –  –  –  – (36.0)

(Increase)/decrease in premium payback liability  –  – 2.3  –  – 2.3 

Claims handling expenses (12.6) (4.1) (2.5) (0.2)  – (19.4)

Net claims incurred (1,753.6) (89.9) (161.2) (0.2)  – (2,004.9)

Other underwriting revenue 1.8 2.0  –  – – 3.8 

Acquisition costs (106.0) (12.3) (41.6) (0.5)  – (160.4)

Other underwriting expenses (104.5) (21.2) (31.7) (0.2)  – (157.6)

Underlying underwriting expenses (210.5) (33.5) (73.3) (0.7)  – (318.0)

Underlying underwriting result 211.8 (5.9) 24.1 (0.3)  – 229.7 

Other income  –  –  – 14.0 10.1 24.1 

Other expenses  –  –  – (27.3) (16.8) (44.1)

Share of net profit/(loss) of associates and joint 
ventures

 –  –  –  – (4.8) (4.8)

Underlying operating profit/(loss) 211.8 (5.9) 24.1 (13.6) (11.5) 204.9 

Items not included in underlying operating profit

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.9) (0.8) (3.4) (1.9)  – (8.0)

Impairment of intangibles  –  –  – (8.8)  – (8.8)

One-off transactions, merger, acquisition and new 
business implementation costs

 –  –  –  – (11.8) (11.8)

Gain on sale of investment in joint venture 9.7 9.7 

Finance income 0.2 0.2 

Finance costs (7.0) (7.0)

Investment income 54.1 54.1 

Investment expenses (2.3) (2.3)

Profit before income tax from
continuing operations

231.0 

Inter-segment other income1 0.1  – 0.1  –  – 0.2 

Depreciation and amortisation 2.5 1.7 3.4 1.9 17.2 26.7 

Total assets 1,196.3 223.3 146.1 137.1 1,702.8 

Total liabilities 628.9 76.4 32.9 258.4 996.6 

Insurance liabilities

Claims liabilities 201.6 15.4 0.1  – 217.1 

Unearned premium liability 227.7 21.4 0.3  – 249.4 

Premium payback liability  – 17.7  –  – 17.7 

Total insurance liabilities 429.3 54.5 0.4  – 484.2 

1. Inter-segment other income is eliminated on consolidation and not included in operating profit.

5. Segment reporting continued
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

Australian 
Residents

Health 
Insurance

$m

International 
(Inbound) 

Health 
Insurance

$m

New Zealand
Health 

Insurance
$m

nib Travel
$m

Unallocated
to segments

$m
Total1

$m

Premium revenue 2,085.0 139.7 240.5 7.9  – 2,473.1 

Outwards reinsurance premium expense (12.7) (16.6) (0.4) (3.8)  – (33.5)

Net premium revenue 2,072.3 123.1 240.1 4.1  – 2,439.6 

Claims expense (1,448.1) (71.2) (144.9) (2.1)  – (1,666.3)

Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue 4.9 9.4  – 2.1  – 16.4 

RESA (247.3)  –  –  –  – (247.3)

State levies (35.0)  –  –  –  – (35.0)

(Increase)/decrease in premium payback liability  –  – (1.2)  –  – (1.2)

Claims handling expenses (15.5) (3.4) (2.5) (0.5)  – (21.9)

Net claims incurred (1,741.0) (65.2) (148.6) (0.5)  – (1,955.3)

Other underwriting revenue 2.4 1.2 (0.1)  –  – 3.5 

Acquisition costs (110.0) (16.0) (39.6) (2.9)  – (168.5)

Other underwriting expenses (92.3) (20.9) (28.4) (0.2)  – (141.8)

Underlying underwriting expenses (202.3) (36.9) (68.0) (3.1)  – (310.3)

Underlying underwriting result 131.4 22.2 23.4 0.5  – 177.5 

Other income  –  –  – 54.1 6.0 60.1 

Other expenses  –  –  – (74.3) (12.4) (86.7)

Share of net profit/(loss) of associates and joint 
ventures

(1.0)  –  –  – (3.0) (4.0)

Underlying operating profit/(loss) 130.4 22.2 23.4 (19.7) (9.4) 146.9 

Items not included in underlying operating profit

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.9) (1.5) (3.4) (3.6)  – (10.4)

Impairment of intangibles  –  –  – (8.0)  – (8.0)

One-off transactions, merger, acquisition and new 
business implementation costs  –  –  –  – (13.6) (13.6)

Finance costs (9.7) (9.7)

Investment income 18.6 18.6 

Investment expenses (2.0) (2.0)

Profit before income tax from
continuing operations

121.8 

Inter-segment other income2 3.4 0.2 0.1  –  – 3.7 

Depreciation and amortisation 2.7 1.8 3.5 3.6 16.1 27.7 

Total assets 1,177.0 228.0 157.6 115.2 1,677.8 

Total liabilities 676.2 87.5 47.4 263.6 1,074.7 

Insurance liabilities

Claims liabilities 220.4 25.1 0.4  – 245.9 

Unearned premium liability 236.6 21.2 0.3  – 258.1 

Premium payback liability – 20.1  –  – 20.1 

Total insurance liabilities 457.0 66.4 0.7  – 524.1 

1. Comparative information has been restated. For further details, refer to Note 31.
2. Inter-segment other income is eliminated on consolidation and not included in operating profit.
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6. Revenue and other income
2021

$m
2020

$m

Premium revenue 2,580.8 2,473.1 

Outwards reinsurance premiums (32.0) (33.5)

Net premium revenue 2,548.8 2,439.6 

Agency fee 0.3 0.3 

Sundry income 3.5 3.2 

Other underwriting revenue 3.8 3.5 

Other income

Travel insurance commission 12.5 54.1 

Commission on other insurance products 2.8 3.1 

Gain on sale of investment in joint venture 9.7 –

Wages subsidies 4.2 2.0 

Insurance recoveries 0.1 0.3 

Sundry income 4.5 0.9 

33.8 60.4 

Finance income 0.2 –

Investment income

Interest 2.8 5.6 

Net realised gain (loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20.3 34.2 

Net unrealised gain (loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 30.8 (21.5)

Dividends 0.2 0.3 

54.1 18.6 

a) Accounting policy

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases 
its estimates on historical results, taking into account the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each 
arrangement.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

i)  Premium 
revenue

Premium revenue comprises premiums from private health insurance contracts held by policyholders.

Premium revenue is recognised when it has been earned. Premium revenue is recognised from the attachment 
date over the period of the contract. The attachment date is from when the insurer accepts the risk from the 
insured under the insurance contract. Revenue is recognised in accordance with the pattern of the incidence 
of risk expected over the term of the contract.

The proportion of the premium received or receivable not earned in the income statement at the reporting date 
is recognised in the balance sheet as an unearned premium liability. Any non-current portion is discounted 
based on expected settlement dates.

Premiums on unclosed business are brought to account using estimates based on payment cycles nominated 
by the policyholder.

ii)  Investment 
income

Net fair value gains or losses on financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
in the period.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Refer to Note 10(a)(iii) for impairment of 
financial assets.
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iii)  Outwards 
reinsurance

Premiums ceded to reinsurers under insurance contracts held by the Group are recognised as an outwards 
reinsurance expense and are recognised in the income statement from the attachment date over the period of 
indemnity of the reinsurance contract in accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk ceded.

iv)  Income from 
travel insurance 
commission

Income in the form of commissions is recognised when the sale of an insurance policy to a customer occurs. 
Income is also generated on travel services activities and recognised as the service is performed.

v)  Finance income Finance income on sublease is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant period rate of 
return on the Group’s finance lease. Refer to Note 15 for finance lease receivables.

7. Expenses

Notes
2021

$m
20201

$m

Expenses by function

Claims handling expenses 19.4 21.9 

Acquisition costs 160.4 168.5 

Other underwriting expenses 163.7 148.5 

Other expenses 66.6 112.3 

Finance costs 7.0 9.7 

Investment expenses 2.3 2.0 

Total expenses (excluding direct claims expenses) 419.4 462.9 

Expenses by nature

Amortisation of acquired intangibles 8.0 10.4 

Bank charges 3.0 5.1 

Communications, postage and telephone expenses 4.8 5.6 

Depreciation and amortisation 18.7 16.5 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 5.3 7.5 

Impairment of right-of-use assets 15 1.1 –

Employee costs 150.9 164.7 

Finance costs 3.4 5.5 

Finance costs – interest on lease liabilities 15 3.6 4.2 

Impairment of intangibles 8.8 8.0 

Information technology expenses 27.7 25.8 

Investment expenses 2.3 2.0 

Marketing expenses – excluding commissions 35.7 45.3 

Marketing expenses – commissions 104.4 115.7 

Merger, acquisition and new business implementation costs 0.3 9.7 

Professional fees 27.4 18.3 

Other expenses 14.0 18.6 

Total expenses (excluding direct claims expenses) 419.4 462.9 

1. Comparative information has been restated. For further details, refer to Note 31.
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8. Taxation

a) Income tax

Notes
2021

$m
20201

$m

i) Income tax expense

Recognised in the income statement

Current tax expense 42.8 76.2 

Deferred tax expense 28.2 (40.0)

Under (over) provided in prior years (0.5) (1.4)

70.5 34.8 

Income tax expense is attributable to:

Profit from continuing operations 70.5 34.8 

Aggregate income tax expense 70.5 34.8 

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense comprises:

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets 8(b) 29.2 (33.4)

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities 8(c) (1.0) (6.6)

28.2 (40.0)

ii) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense 231.0 121.8 

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) 69.3 36.5 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Goodwill impairment 2.3 –

Sundry items (0.4) 0.5 

Net assessable trust distributions 0.2 0.2 

Imputation credits and foreign tax credits (0.7) (0.7)

Adjustment for current tax of prior periods (0.5) (1.4)

Unrecognised tax losses and deferred tax assets – 0.1 

Differences in foreign tax rates 0.3 (0.4)

Income tax expense 70.5 34.8 

iii) Tax expense relating to items of other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translations – (0.4)

– (0.4)

iv) Tax losses

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised – 0.3 

Potential tax benefit at 30% – 0.1 

1. Comparative information has been restated. For further details, refer to Note 31.
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b) Deferred tax assets

Notes
2021

$m
2020

$m

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Claims liabilities 11.7 30.7 

Employee benefits 6.0 6.1 

Lease liabilities 17.2 23.8 

Premium payback liabilities 4.5 5.2 

Provisions 5.9 5.7 

Unrealised losses on investments – 4.0 

45.3 75.5 

Other

Depreciation and amortisation 0.1 0.6 

Loss allowance 0.6 0.6 

Income receivables 0.4 0.4 

Investment in associates and joint ventures 2.6 1.4 

Share issue costs 0.1 0.2 

Tax losses 0.6 0.2 

4.4 3.4 

Total deferred tax assets 49.7 78.9 

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions 8(c) (49.7) (66.5)

Net deferred tax assets – 12.4 

Recovery of total deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 23.4 41.0 

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 26.3 37.9 

49.7 78.9 

Movements

Claims 
liabilities

$m

Employee 
benefits

$m

Lease 
liabilities

$m

Premium 
payback 

liabilities
$m

Provisions
$m

Unrealised 
losses on 

investments
$m

Other
$m

Total
$m

At 1 July 2019 0.3 5.7 25.2 5.1 6.1 – 3.2 45.6 

(Charged)/credited to the income statement 30.4 0.4 (1.5) 0.4 (0.4) 4.0 0.1 33.4 

(Charged)/credited directly to other 
comprehensive income

 –  – 0.1 (0.3)  –  – 0.1 (0.1)

At 30 June 2020 30.7 6.1 23.8 5.2 5.7 4.0 3.4 78.9 

At 1 July 2020 30.7 6.1 23.8 5.2 5.7 4.0 3.4 78.9 

(Charged)/credited to the income statement (19.0) (0.1) (6.6) (0.7) 0.2 (4.0) 1.0 (29.2)

(Charged)/credited directly to other 
comprehensive income

 –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –

At 30 June 2021 11.7 6.0 17.2 4.5 5.9  – 4.4 49.7 
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c) Deferred tax liabilities

Notes
2021

$m
2020

$m

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Brands and trademarks and customer contracts and relationships 15.2 17.7 

Deferred acquisition costs 37.2 34.7 

Right-of-use assets 11.5 17.9 

Unrealised foreign exchange gains 0.6 0.8 

Unrealised gains on investments 5.6 –

70.1 71.1 

Other

Unearned premium liability 0.1 0.1 

0.1 0.1 

Total deferred tax liabilities 70.2 71.2 

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions 8(b) (49.7) (66.5)

Net deferred tax liabilities 20.5 4.7 

Recovery of total deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled within 12 months 14.7 15.4 

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months 55.5 55.8 

70.2 71.2 

Movements

Brands and 
trademarks 

and customer 
contracts and 
relationships

$m

Deferred 
acquisition 

costs
$m

 Right-of-
use assets 

$m

Unrealised 
foreign 

exchange 
losses

$m

Unrealised 
gains on 

investments
$m

Other
$m

Total
$m

At 1 July 2019 22.8 32.4 19.4 1.1 2.5 0.2 78.4 

(Charged)/credited to the income statement (5.0) 2.4 (1.4)  – (2.5) (0.1) (6.6)

(Charged)/credited directly to other comprehensive income (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.3)  –  – (0.6)

At 30 June 2020 17.7 34.7 17.9 0.8  – 0.1 71.2 

At 1 July 2020 17.7 34.7 17.9 0.8  – 0.1 71.2 

(Charged)/credited to the income statement (2.5) 2.5 (6.4) (0.2) 5.6  – (1.0)

(Charged)/credited directly to other comprehensive income  –  –  –  –  –  –  –

At 30 June 2021 15.2 37.2 11.5 0.6 5.6 0.1 70.2 

d) Accounting policy

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences 
and to unused tax losses. Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred 
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it 
is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

8. Taxation continued 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where 
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

nib holdings limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities are a tax consolidated group. As a consequence, the entities 
within each group are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set-off in the consolidated 
financial statements. Details of tax consolidated group are detailed in Note 36 a) ii). 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

9. Cash and cash equivalents
2021

$m
2020

$m

Cash at bank and cash on hand 148.3 141.6 

Short-term deposits and deposits at call 65.6 56.4 

213.9 198.0 

a) Accounting policy

Cash and cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts, are carried at face value of the amounts deposited or drawn. For the purpose of 
the presentation in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held 
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

b) Risk exposure

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 3(b). The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the 
carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above.

c) Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities
2021

$m
20201

$m

Profit for the year 160.5 87.0 

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.9 0.1 

Profit on sale of joint venture investment (9.7) –

Fair value (gain)/loss on other financial assets through profit or loss (33.3) 4.6 

Share of net (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures 4.8 4.0 

Non-cash employee (benefits)/expense – share-based payments 1.7 (0.4)

Depreciation and amortisation 26.7 26.9 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on leases 8.9 11.7 

Impairment of right-of-use assets 1.1 –

Impairment of intangibles 8.8 8.0 

Net exchange differences 0.1 0.9 

Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect from purchase of controlled entity

Decrease (increase) in receivables (11.3) (3.3)

Decrease (increase) in deferred acquisition costs (8.9) (2.2)

Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets – (8.6)

Increase (decrease) in trade payables (9.0) (8.3)

Increase (decrease) in unearned premium liability (8.8) 0.7 

Increase (decrease) in premium payback liability (2.3) 0.8 

Increase (decrease) in current tax liabilities (21.2) 12.7 

Increase (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities 28.1 (31.4)

Increase (decrease) in provisions (28.4) 104.4 

Net cash flow from operating activities 108.7 207.6 

1. Comparative information has been restated. For further details, refer to Note 31.
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d) Net debt

This section sets out an analysis and movements in net debt:

2021
$m

2020
$m

Cash and cash equivalents 213.9 198.0 

Liquid investments 858.9 818.1 

Borrowings – repayable within one year (1.6) (2.0)

Borrowings – repayable after one year (230.7) (230.9)

Lease liabilities (57.6) (82.6)

Net debt 782.9 700.6 

Cash and liquid investments 1,072.8 1,016.1 

Gross debt – variable interest rates (232.3) (232.9)

Lease liabilities (57.6) (82.6)

Net debt 782.9 700.6 

Assets Liabilities from financing activities

Cash and cash 
equivalents

$m

Liquid 
investments

$m
Sub-total

$m
Borrowings

$m
Lease liabilities

$m

Net Debt  
Total

$m

As at 1 July 2019 164.7 731.4 896.1 (233.9) (87.6) 574.6 

Cash flows 34.2 66.2 100.4 (0.5) 10.6 110.5 

Acquisition – leases  –  –  –  – (1.8) (1.8)

Foreign exchange adjustments (0.9) (2.1) (3.0) 1.5 0.1 (1.4)

Other non-cash movements  – 22.6 22.6  – (3.9) 18.7 

As at 30 June 2020 198.0 818.1 1,016.1 (232.9) (82.6) 700.6 

Cash flows 15.4 (13.4) 2.0 0.4 10.4 12.8 

Acquisition – leases  –  –  –  – (1.0) (1.0)

Foreign exchange adjustments 0.5 (0.4) 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.5 

Other non-cash movements  – 54.6 54.6  – 15.4 70.0 

As at 30 June 2021 213.9 858.9 1,072.8 (232.3) (57.6) 782.9 

Liquid investments comprise current investments that are traded in an active market, being the Group’s financial assets at amortised 
cost and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

e) Off‑balance sheet arrangements

nib Travel Pty Limited (nib Travel), a wholly-owned subsidiary of nib holdings limited, operates bank accounts held in its name on 
behalf of its underwriters in accordance with contractual terms governing the arrangements. These accounts are not considered 
part of the cash and cash equivalents of nib Travel as they do not have the control over the cash. At 30 June 2021 this amounted to 
$30,360,856 (2020: $23,510,009). 

9. Cash and cash equivalents continued 



nib holdings limited | Annual Report 2021 71

10. Receivables

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current

Premium receivable 14.3 11.9 

Private Health Insurance Premiums Reduction Scheme receivable 41.7 38.2 

Other receivables 27.4 22.6 

Provision for loss allowance (2.5) (1.9)

Prepayments 9.7 9.4 

Expected future reinsurance recoveries undiscounted

 on claims paid 1.1 3.8 

 on outstanding claims 2.2 2.4 

93.9 86.4 

As at 30 June 2021, current receivables of the Group with a nominal value of $2.532 million (2020: $1.928 million) were impaired.

The loss allowance as at 30 June 2021 and 2020 was determined as follows for both premium receivables and other receivables:

Group at 30 June 2021 Current

More than
30 days past 

due

More than
60 days past 

due

More than 
120 days past 

due Total

Expected loss rate % 5% 17% 8% 9%

Gross carrying amount – premium receivables $m 13.7 0.4 0.2 – 14.3 

Gross carrying amount – other receivables $m 16.6 0.2 1.1 9.5 27.4 

Loss allowance $m 1.4 0.1 0.1 0.9 2.5 

Group at 30 June 2020 Current

More than 
30 days past 

due

More than 
60 days past 

due

More than 
120 days past 

due Total

Expected loss rate % 4% 5% 5% 15%

Gross carrying amount – premium receivables $m 10.5 0.7 0.4 0.3 11.9 

Gross carrying amount – other receivables $m 16.1 1.4 1.5 3.6 22.6 

Loss allowance $m 1.1 0.1 0.1 0.6 1.9 

The closing loss allowances for premium receivables and other receivables as at 30 June 2021 and 2020 reconcile to the opening loss 
allowances as follows:

Premium 
receivables

$m

Other 
receivables

$m
Total

$m

1 July 2019 1.6 0.2 1.8 

Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year (0.1) 0.3 0.2 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible – (0.1) (0.1)

At 30 June 2020 1.5 0.4 1.9 

Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year (0.2) 0.9 0.7 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible – (0.1) (0.1)

At 30 June 2021 1.3 1.2 2.5 

As of 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 no receivables were past due but not impaired.
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a) Accounting policy

i) Premium receivables Amounts due from policyholders are initially recognised at fair value, being the amounts due. They are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost less allowance for expected credit losses.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, premium receivables have 
been grouped based on shared risk characteristics.

The amount of expected credit losses is recognised in Premium revenue on the Consolidated Income 
Statement.

ii) Other receivables Other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Other receivables 
are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, other receivables have been 
grouped based on shared risk characteristics.

The amount of expected credit losses is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

When a receivable becomes uncollectible it is written off against the expected credit loss account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in the 
Consolidated Income Statement.

iii)  Impairment of 
financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either 
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement of 
the loss allowance depends upon the Group’s assessment at the end of each reporting period as to 
whether the financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, based 
on reasonable and supportable information that is available, without undue cost or effort to obtain.

Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 
12-month expected credit loss allowance is estimated. This represents a portion of the asset’s lifetime 
expected credit losses that is attributable to a default event that is possible within the next 12 months.

Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where it is determined that credit risk has 
increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset’s lifetime expected credit losses. 
The amount of expected credit loss recognised is measured on the basis of the probability weighted 
present value of anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of the instrument discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.

For financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the loss allowance is 
recognised within other comprehensive income. In all other cases, the loss allowance is recognised in 
profit or loss.

iv) Interest rate risk Information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to other receivables is provided 
in Note 3.

v)  Fair value and 
credit risk 

Due to the short-term nature of current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate 
their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of 
receivables mentioned above. 

vi) Risk exposure The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of 
receivable mentioned above. Refer to Note 3 for more information on the risk management policy of 
the Group and the credit quality of the Group’s receivables.

vii)  Reinsurance and 
other recoveries 
receivable

Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable on paid claims, reported claims not yet paid, incurred but 
not reported (IBNR), and unexpired risk liabilities are recognised as revenue. Recoveries receivable are 
assessed in a manner similar to the assessment of outstanding claims.

Recoveries are measured as the present value of the expected future receipts, calculated on the same 
basis as the liability for outstanding claims (see Note 18).

10. Receivables continued 
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11. Financial assets

a) Financial assets at amortised cost

2021
$m

2020
$m

Short-term deposits 7.7 8.8 

7.7 8.8 

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost are recorded in investment income in profit or loss in Note 6.

b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current

Equity securities 213.2 156.1 

Interest-bearing securities 645.7 660.2 

Property trusts 11.2 12.3 

870.1 828.6 

Non-current

Mortgage trusts – 0.4 

– 0.4 

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in investment income in profit or loss in 
Note 6.

The redemption terms for investments in certain managed trusts can be varied by their responsible entities in response to market 
conditions. For those investments which cannot be redeemed entirely within one year from reporting date, the amounts have been 
allocated between current and non-current in accordance with the maximum percentage redeemable within one year as per the most 
recent advice from the manager at the end of the reporting period.

c) Accounting policy

i) Classification The Group classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or 
loss), and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the relevant cash flows.

The Group has determined that financial assets held by entities in the Group that are health insurers 
are classified as fair value through profit or loss as they are held to back insurance liabilities. These 
assets are managed in accordance with agreed investment mandate agreements on a fair value basis 
and are reported to the Board on this basis.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost only if both of the following conditions are met:

• it is held within a business model which objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows, and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset represent contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest.

ii)  Recognition and 
derecognition

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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iii) Measurement Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value. All other financial 
assets are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to the initial recognition, for financial assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will 
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, 
this will depend on the business model in which the investment is held as described below. 

Reclassification of debt investments is done when and only when its business model for managing 
those assets changes. For investments in equity instruments, the fair value will be recorded in profit or 
loss, unless the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for 
the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

iv) Debt instruments Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing 
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into 
which the company classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment 
that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets 
is included in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where 
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. 
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment 
losses or reversal of impairment losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which 
are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL and is not 
part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within investment gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included in the 
profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

v) Equity instruments The Group subsequently measures all investments in equity instruments at fair value. Where the 
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other 
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit 
or loss. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in 
investment gains/(losses) in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses (and reversal of 
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other 
changes in fair value.

vi) Impairment The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its 
financial assets carried at amortised cost. The recognition of impairment depends on whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk.

Debt investments at amortised cost are considered to be low credit risk, and thus the impairment 
provision is determined as 12 months ECL.

vii) Risk exposure Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk and interest rate risk is provided in Note 3.

11. Financial assets continued 
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12. Deferred acquisition costs

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current 55.0 50.7 

Non-current 71.3 66.7 

Movements in the deferred acquisition costs are as follows:

2021
$m

2020
$m

Balance at beginning of year 117.4 115.2 

Acquisition costs deferred during the period 67.9 60.9 

Amortisation expense (58.9) (58.2)

Exchange differences (0.1) (0.5)

126.3 117.4 

Deferred acquisition costs by segment are as follows:

2021
$m

2020
$m

Australian Residents Health Insurance 89.0 86.0 

New Zealand Residents Health Insurance 33.5 27.0 

International (Inbound) Health Insurance 3.8 4.4 

126.3 117.4 

a) Accounting policy

Direct acquisition costs incurred in obtaining health insurance contracts, including broker commissions, are deferred and recognised 
as assets where they can be reliably measured and where it is probable that they will give rise to premium revenue that will be 
recognised in the consolidated income statement in subsequent reporting periods. This pattern of amortisation reflects the earning 
pattern of the corresponding premium revenue.

b) Critical accounting judgements and estimates

i) Australian Residents Health Insurance
Deferred acquisition costs are amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 5 years (2020: 5 years), in accordance with 
the expected pattern of the incidence of risk under the open ended insurance contracts to which they relate, which includes 
expectations of customers remaining insured.

The Group pays an upfront commission to retail brokers on signing up new members to the business. These upfront commissions 
will give rise to future premium revenue beyond the current period and are able to be measured and directly associated with a 
particular insurance contract. The Group does not capitalise the indirect administration costs associated with acquiring new 
members due to the difficulty in measurement. The Group considers the duration of a health insurance contract to be an open 
ended agreement as the Group stands ready to continue to insure its customers under continuing policies. The Group uses 
average retention rates to determine the appropriate customer contract life and related amortisation period for customers who 
purchase insurance through these broker channels. The analysis included extrapolating historical lapse rates for broker acquired 
customers but truncating the data at 10 years in order to allow for the inherent distortion created by extrapolating historical data. 
This analysis and management’s expectations of future lapse supports the amortisation period of 5 years. The Group re-performs 
this analysis at least every six months for reassessment. A decrease in the expected contract periods of one year would increase 
amortisation expense by $14.3 million for 30 June 2021. An increase in the expected contract periods of one year would decrease 
amortisation expense by $11.3 million for 30 June 2021.

The recoverability of the related deferred acquisition costs is also considered as part of the liability adequacy test performed. 
As described in Note 19, the Group has no deficiency in the unearned premium liability at 30 June 2021. 
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b) Critical accounting judgements and estimates (continued)

Alternative view

General insurers amortise deferred acquisition costs usually over one year, as their policies generally have a defined term of one 
year. With health insurance, if the contract term is considered to be only the term to which the customer has agreed to, or paid to, 
the deferred acquisition cost would be amortised over a period of between one and two months, which is the period paid in advance 
by the customer. However, the Group believes that does not reflect the open ended nature of a health insurance contract, the 
contract periods to which future premium revenue will arise, nor the expected pattern of the incidence of risk under the insurance 
contracts to which the costs relate. For these reasons the Group believes the current adopted treatment is more appropriate.

ii) nib New Zealand
The Group incurs upfront commission costs that will give rise to future premium revenue and are able to be directly associated 
with a particular insurance contract. These costs are deferred and amortised over the life of the insurance contract. The Group 
does not capitalise the indirect administration costs associated with acquiring new members due to the difficulty in identifying 
and associating those indirect costs with acquiring particular insurance contracts.

There are two key assumptions required to recognise the acquisition costs over the life of the insurance contract: 

• the period of the insurance contract is assumed to be the average length of insurance for nib nz limited policyholders who are 
the subject of an upfront commission; and

• the average length of insurance for nib nz limited policyholders who are the subject of an upfront commission is calculated by 
extrapolating historical lapse rates for that group of policyholders. 

The recoverability of the related deferred acquisition costs is also considered through an assessment of the net present value of 
the future estimated cash flows for policies that are subject to commission, and as part of the liability adequacy test performed. 
As described in Note 19, the Group has no deficiency in the unearned premium liability at 30 June 2021. 

13. Property, plant and equipment
Plant and 

Equipment
$m

Leasehold
Improvements

$m
Total

$m

At 1 July 2019

Cost 20.3 17.3 37.6 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (15.5) (8.9) (24.4)

Net book amount 4.8 8.4 13.2 

Year ended 30 June 2020

Opening net book amount 4.8 8.4 13.2 

Additions 2.1 0.2 2.3 

Depreciation charge for the year (2.3) (1.8) (4.1)

Closing net book amount 4.6 6.8 11.4 

At 30 June 2020

Cost 22.2 17.5 39.7 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (17.6) (10.7) (28.3)

Net book amount 4.6 6.8 11.4 

Year ended 30 June 2021

Opening net book amount 4.6 6.8 11.4 

Additions 0.6 0.5 1.1 

Disposals (0.2) (0.7) (0.9)

Depreciation charge for the year (2.2) (1.5) (3.7)

Closing net book amount 2.8 5.1 7.9 

At 30 June 2021

Cost 19.9 13.2 33.1 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (17.1) (8.1) (25.2)

Net book amount 2.8 5.1 7.9 

12. Deferred acquisition costs continued 
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a) Accounting policy

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during 
the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

• Plant and equipment 3 to 10 years

• Leasehold improvements 3 to 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date. An asset’s carrying 
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount (see Note 14(a)(v)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss. 
When revalued assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer the amounts included in other reserves in respect of those assets to 
retained earnings.

14. Intangible assets

Goodwill
$m

Software
$m

Brands and 
Trademarks

$m

Customer 
Contracts and 
relationships

$m
Total1

$m

At 1 July 2019

Cost 227.4 110.4 32.6 81.7 452.1 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (68.8) (7.2) (29.5) (105.5)

Net book amount 227.4 41.6 25.4 52.2 346.6 

Year ended 30 June 2020

Opening net book amount 227.4 41.6 25.4 52.2 346.6 

Additions – 20.7 – – 20.7 

Disposals – (0.1) – – (0.1)

Amortisation charge for the year – (14.2) (1.2) (7.4) (22.8)

Impairment charge – – (5.8) (2.2) (8.0)

Exchange differences (0.9) (0.3) – (0.5) (1.7)

Closing net book amount 226.5 47.7 18.4 42.1 334.7 

At 30 June 2020

Cost 226.5 129.3 32.6 80.7 469.1 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  – (81.6) (14.2) (38.6) (134.4)

Net book amount 226.5 47.7 18.4 42.1 334.7 

Year ended 30 June 2021

Opening net book amount 226.5 47.7 18.4 42.1 334.7 

Additions – 22.5 – – 22.5 

Disposals – (0.1) – – (0.1)

Amortisation charge for the year – (15.3) (1.0) (6.7) (23.0)

Impairment charge (7.6) – (1.2) – (8.8)

Exchange differences (0.2) – – (0.1) (0.3)

Closing net book amount 218.7 54.8 16.2 35.3 325.0 

At 30 June 2021

Cost 218.7 153.2 32.6 80.6 485.1 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – (98.4) (16.4) (45.3) (160.1)

Net book amount 218.7 54.8 16.2 35.3 325.0 

1 Comparative information has been restated. For further details, refer to Note 31.
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a) Accounting policy

i) Goodwill Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net 
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries 
is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually, 
and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

ii) Software Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software that will contribute 
to future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software. 
Costs capitalised include external direct costs of materials and service and direct payroll and payroll related 
costs of employees’ time spent on the project. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over periods 
generally ranging from two and a half years to five years.

Change of accounting policy

The Group previously capitalised costs incurred in configuring or customising Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) 
arrangements as intangible assets, as the Group considered that it would benefit from those costs to 
implement the SaaS arrangements over the expected renewable term of the arrangements. Following the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee agenda decision on Configuration or Customisation Costs in a Cloud Computing 
Arrangement in March 2021, the Group has reconsidered its accounting treatment and adopted the treatment 
set out in the IFRS IC agenda decision, which is to recognise those costs as intangible assets only if the 
implementation activities create an intangible asset that the entity controls and the intangible asset meets the 
recognition criteria. Costs that do not result in intangible assets are expensed as incurred, unless they are paid 
to the suppliers of the SaaS arrangement to significantly customise the cloud-based software for the Group, in 
which case the costs are recorded as a prepayment for services and amortised over the expected renewable 
term of the arrangement.

Refer to Note 31 Change in accounting policy for the impact of this change on the financial statements.

iii)  Brands and 
trademarks

Brands and trademarks acquired as part of a business combination are carried at fair value at the date of 
acquisition less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on the asset’s estimated useful life which 
is five years for IMAN Australian Health Plans Pty Ltd and 10 years for Grand United Corporate Health Limited.

Brands and trademarks acquired with World Nomads Group in July 2015 have an indefinite useful life and are 
carried at fair value at the date of acquisition, less impairment losses.

iv)  Customer 
Contracts and 
relationships

Customer contracts and relationships acquired as part of a business combination are recognised separately 
from goodwill. The customer contracts are carried at their fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated based on the timing of projected cash flows of 
the contracts over their estimated useful lives, which is 

• 10 years for both nib nz limited and Grand United Corporate Health Limited; 

• approximately 2.5 years for World Nomads Group; 

• 5 to 10 years for QBE Travel.

v)  Impairment Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life and are not subject to amortisation are tested 
annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

14. Intangible assets continued 
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b) Allocation of goodwill and intangible assets to CGUs

Goodwill

Australian 
Residents Health 

Insurance
Australia

$m

International 
Workers Health 

Insurance
Australia

$m

New Zealand 
Residents Health 

Insurance
New Zealand

$m

nib travel Group
Australia

$m

Unallocted to 
CGUs

$m
Total

$m

At 30 June` 2021 80.2 21.1 40.9 76.5  – 218.7 

At 30 June 2020 80.2 21.1 41.1 84.1  – 226.5 

Brands and Trademarks $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2021 3.0  –  – 13.2  – 16.2 

At 30 June 2020 3.5  –  – 14.9  – 18.4 

Customer Contracts and relationships $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2021 14.2  – 14.4 6.7  – 35.3 

At 30 June 2020 16.5  – 17.8 7.8  – 42.1 

Software1 $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2021  –  –  –  – 54.8 54.8 

At 30 June 2020  –  –  –  – 47.7 47.7 

Total $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2021 97.4 21.1 55.3 96.4 54.8 325.0 

At 30 June 2020 100.2 21.1 58.9 106.8 47.7 334.7 

1. Software is shown as unallocated as it is predominately a shared services function.

c) Allocation of definite life and indefinite life assets to CGUs

Definite life

Australian 
Residents 

Health 
Insurance
Australia

$m

International 
Workers Health 

Insurance
Australia

$m

New Zealand 
Residents 

Health 
Insurance

New Zealand
$m

nib travel Group
Australia

$m

Unallocted to 
CGUs

$m
Total 

$m

At 30 June 2021 17.2  – 14.4 6.7 54.8 93.1 

At 30 June 2020 20.0  – 17.8 7.8 47.7 93.3 

Indefinite life $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2021 80.2 21.1 40.9 89.7  – 231.9 

At 30 June 2020 80.2 21.1 41.1 99.0  – 241.4 

Total $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 June 2021 97.4 21.1 55.3 96.4 54.8 325.0 

At 30 June 2020 100.2 21.1 58.9 106.8 47.7 334.7 
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The definite and indefinite life brand names allocated to nib Travel Group CGU (included in Brands and Trademarks table on previous 
page) are as follows:

Brands and Trademarks

WorldNomads.
com
$m

Travel 
Insurance 

Direct 
$m

Total 
$m

At 30 June 2021 12.7 0.5 13.2 

At 30 June 2020 12.7 2.2 14.9 

d) Impairment tests for goodwill and intangibles

Goodwill and intangibles are allocated to a cash–generating unit (CGU).

An asset is considered impaired when its balance sheet carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, which is defined 
as the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on a value-in-use calculation. The value-in-use calculation uses cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets and forecast forward projections approved by management covering a four-year period.

During the year, the nib Travel Group CGU goodwill was impaired by $7.6 million and the Travel Insurance Direct brand name was 
partially impaired by $1.2 million, due to the ongoing impact of COVID-19 and an increase in the discount rate applied to the CGU. 
The impairment has been included in Other expenses on the Consolidated Income Statement.

The estimates used in calculating value-in-use are highly sensitive, and depend on assumptions specific to the nature of the Group’s 
activities. Actual cash flows and values could vary significantly from forecasted future cash flows and related values derived from 
discounting techniques.

e) Key assumptions used for value‑in‑use calculations

The assumptions used for the cash flow projections for the first four years are in line with the current forecast forward projections. 
Key assumptions include policyholder growth, claims ratio and the discount factor.

Policyholder growth is calculated by forecasting the number of sales each month based on budgeted advertising and promotions 
spend, less the number of expected lapses each month. Claims ratios are targeted that generate price increases that maintain 
price competitiveness, cover expected increases in claims costs, do not adversely affect the funds capital adequacy position and 
enable funding of future business growth.

Cash flows beyond the four-year period are extrapolated into perpetuity assuming a growth factor of 2.5% with the exception of 
Travel Insurance Direct Brand at (7.0)%. The Group has applied a post-tax discount rate to discount the forecast future attributable 
post tax cash flows. 

These assumptions have been used for analysis of each CGU. Management determined policyholder growth and claims ratios 
based on past performance and its expectations for the future.

i) nib Travel Group

The assumptions for nib Travel Group have been updated for the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on the travel industry, to which nib 
is exposed via the nib Travel Group CGU.

FY22 to FY25 cash-flows are based on nib internal budget assumptions, and scenarios on the reopening of borders and the 
timing of return to inflation-adjusted pre-COVID-19 revenue levels (from 1H20 revenues). These have been set with reference to 
external industry forecasts, as well as Federal Budget expectations. Resumption of international tourism is assumed to increase 
internationally in late 2021, and from Australia in mid-2022 (calendar periods). A gradual recovery is assumed, with reduced 
volumes initially and full return to pre-COVID levels in FY24 (2020: FY24). 

Terminal growth rates of 2.5% compound annual growth rate has been applied for growth beyond FY25.

nib travel is in the process of securing new underwriting arrangements with a range of outcomes possible. As such the goodwill 
impairment assessment has also been based on the probability weighted range of outcomes that could reasonably be expected 
to occur with the arrangements on top of the other assumptions outlined in this Note.

14. Intangible assets continued 
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f) Significant estimate: Impact of possible changes in key assumptions

During the year the nib Travel Group CGU goodwill was impaired by $7.6 million and the Travel Insurance Direct brand name was 
partially impaired by $1.2 million, based on the assumptions in section e). A further deterioration in assumptions would result in a 
future impairment of goodwill and the Travel Insurance Direct brand name.

Should the travel industry return back to pre-COVID-19 levels of activity be delayed by one year (i.e. from FY24 to FY25) a further 
impairment of approximately $16.0 million would be present. Given the high level of uncertainty around whether the travel industry 
will return to pre-COVID-19 levels, the nib Travel Group Australia CGU will continually be assessed as more information evolves. 

The range of reasonable possible outcomes from the process of securing new underwriting arrangements for nib Travel was no 
impairment through to an additional impairment of the nib Travel CGU by $1.1 million.

Sensitivity to changes in other key assumptions has been outlined in the table below.

Other than as noted in the sensitivity table in Note 14(f) below, there are no reasonably possible changes in key assumptions that 
would impair the reported CGUs.

The following table sets out the key assumptions for those CGUs that have significant goodwill allocated to them.

Policyholder growth Claims ratio Long-term growth rate Pre-tax discount rate

Goodwill
2021

%
2020

%
2021

%
2020

%
2021

%
2020

%
2021

%
2020

%

Australian Residents Health Insurance 2.7 1.7 83.2 83.6 2.5 2.5 12.2 10.4

International Workers Health Insurance 2.8 2.1 43.7 43.7 2.5 2.5 12.2 10.4

New Zealand Residents Health Insurance 8.9 6.3 63.8 62.6 2.5 2.5 11.2 9.9

Revenue growth rate
(forecast years) Long-term growth rate Pre-tax discount rate

2021
%

2020
%

2021
%

2020
%

2021
%

2020
%

nib travel 3.7 2.5 2.5 2.5 14.8 11.0

1H20 revenues have been assumed to represent pre-COVID levels of activity which have then been run rated. Expected FY25 revenue represents a 3.7% pa compound annual growth rate (CAGR) from 1H20.

The following table outlines the sensitivity to reasonably possible changes in assumptions that would lead to an impairment.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Carrying value

$m

Recoverable 
value

$m
Difference

$m

nib Travel Group CGU 106.4 106.4  –

Change in recoverable value
Movement in 

variable

Change in
recoverable 

value
$m

Excess/(deficit) 
in carrying 

value 
$m

Change in revenue across FY22 – FY25 +10.0% 11.1 11.1 

 -10.0% (11.1) (11.1)

Change in pre-tax discount rate +1.0% (9.7) (9.7)

 -1.0% 11.4 11.4 

Change in long-term growth rate +1.0% 13.3 13.3 

 -1.0% (10.6) (10.6)
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The following table sets out the key assumptions for the indefinite life for the brand names and trademarks for the nib Travel Group 
CGUs.

Revenue growth rate 
(forecast years) Royalty rate Long-term growth rate Pre-tax discount rate

Brandnames and trademarks
2021

%
2020

%
2021

%
2020

%
2021

%
2020

%
2021

%
2020

%

WorldNomads.com 3.7 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 14.8 11.0

15. Lease assets and liabilities

a) Right‑of‑use assets 

2021
$m

2020
$m

Right-of-use assets – properties 26.5 62.1

26.5 62.1

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2021 financial year was $1.0 million (2020: $1.8 million).

b) Finance lease receivables

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current 1.7 –

Non-current 10.6 –

Minimum undiscounted lease payments receivable on the sublease are as follows:

2021
$m

2020
$m

Within 1 year 1.9 –

Between 1 and 2 years 2.0 –

Between 2 and 3 years 2.1 –

Between 3 and 4 years 2.2 –

Between 4 and 5 years 2.3 –

Later than 5 years 2.6 –

13.1 –

c) Lease liabilities

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current 6.9 6.3

Non-current 50.7 76.3

14. Intangible assets continued 



nib holdings limited | Annual Report 2021 83

d) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following amounts related to leases.

Notes
2021

$m
2020

$m

Finance income 6 0.2 –

Gain on recognition of finance sublease (included in other income) 6 2.5 –

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets – properties 7 5.3 7.5 

Impairment of right-of-use assets – properties 7 1.1 –

Finance costs – interest on lease liabilities 7 3.6 4.2 

Expenses relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses) 7 0.1 0.2 

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was $9.03 million (2020: $10.6 million).

e) Accounting policy

As a lessee
The Group leases various offices and retail stores. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 15 years but may have 
extension options as described in (i) below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different 
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value 
of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset 
of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: 

• where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes 
in financing conditions since third party financing was received 

• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does 
not have recent third party financing, and 

• makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security 

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in 
the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is 
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received

• any initial direct costs, and

• restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in 
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

As a lessor
The Group is a sub-lessor (intermediate lessor) of the right-of-use assets. The Group classifies the sublease as a finance lease or 
an operating lease by assessing if the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards with reference to the right-of-use asset 
arising from the head lease, rather than by reference to the underlying asset.
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For subleases classified as finance lease, the sub-lessor derecognises the right-of-use asset relating to the head lease that it transfers 
to the sublease and recognises the net investment in the sublease; any difference between the right-of-use assets and the net 
investment in the finance sublease is recognised in profit or loss. At the commencement date, net investment in the finance lease 
is measured at an amount equal to the present value of the lease payments for the underlying right-of-use assets during the lease 
term. The Group recognises finance income over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant period rate of return on the 
lessor’s net investment in the lease.

i) Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a number of leases across the Group. These terms are used to maximise 
operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts.

The minimum non-discounted cash flows associated with the extensions that have not been recognised is $21.6 million.

16. Payables

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current

Outwards reinsurance expense liability – premiums payable to reinsurers 0.3 8.1 

Trade creditors 20.8 13.7 

Claims payable 55.4 57.3 

Other payables 49.1 53.5 

RESA payable1 48.2 48.4 

Annual leave payable 10.5 10.4 

184.3 191.4 

Non-current

Other payables 4.3 6.5 

4.3 6.5 

1.  Risk Equalisation Special Account (RESA) levy, represents expenses incurred under Risk Equalisation Trust Fund arrangements which are provided for within the legislation to support the principle of 
community rating.

Annual leave payable is accrued annual leave. The entire amount is presented as current, since the Group does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement. However, based on past experience, the Group does not expect all employees to take the full 
amount of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not to be expected 
to be taken within the next 12 months.

2021
$m

2020
$m

Annual leave obligation expected to be settled after 12 months 1.5 1.1

a) Accounting policy

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year which are 
unpaid. These amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

i)  Risk Equalisation 
Special Account levy

The Risk Equalisation Special Account Levy is accrued based on an industry survey of eligible paid 
claims to be submitted to APRA. If a private health insurer notifies APRA of a material variation in paid 
claims which can be quantified, the Group adjusts the risk equalisation expense.

15. Lease assets and liabilities continued

e) Accounting policy continued
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17. Borrowings
2021

$m
2020

$m

Current

Bank overdraft 1.6 2.0

1.6 2.0

Non-current

Bank loans 230.7 230.9

230.7 230.9

The bank overdraft comprises the closing positive balance of the bank account, adjusted for unpresented cheques and outstanding 
deposits. 

The Group has a line-of-credit facility for corporate credit cards issued to nib employees for a total of $2.3 million. Outstanding 
amounts as at 30 June 2021 are included in Current Liabilities – Payables under Trade Creditors.

Movements in the bank loans (secured) are as follows: 

2021
$m

2020
$m

Balance at beginning of period 230.9 232.5 

Proceeds from borrowings  – 67.2 

Repayment of borrowings  – (67.2)

Exchange differences (0.2) (1.6)

Balance at end of period 230.7 230.9 

a) Accounting policy

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as 
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is 
deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent that there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or 
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities if the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. 

b) Bank loans

During the year the Group refinanced its AUD $85.0 million variable rate loan with NAB to extend its maturity date to 16 December 
2023. It also has a AUD $80.5 million variable rate loan with NAB with a maturity date of 9 December 2022. Both loans are carried at 
amortised cost.

nib nz holdings limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of nib holdings limited, has a NZD $70.0 million variable rate loan with NAB with a 
maturity date of 9 December 2022.

The above loans have the following covenants that must be met by the Group:

Financial Covenant Ratio as at 30 June 2021

Group Gearing Ratio1 will not be more than 45% 25.2%

Group Interest Cover Ratio1 will not be less than 3:1. 70:1

1. Excludes lease liabilities and associated interest.
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nib holdings limited has provided a guarantee and indemnity to NAB on behalf of nib nz holdings limited in respect of the NZD 
$70.0 million term loan facility.

c) Risk exposure

Information on the sensitivity of the Group’s profit and equity to interest rate risk on borrowings is provided in Note 3.

18. Claims liabilities

Outstanding Claims Liability
2021

$m
2020

$m

Outstanding claims – central estimate of the expected future payment for claims incurred1 140.8 112.6 

Risk margin 14.8 9.8 

Claims handling costs 2.1 2.0 

Gross outstanding claims liability 157.7 124.4 

 

Outstanding claims – expected payment to the RESA2 in relation to the central estimate 24.1 21.3 

Risk margin 1.3 1.4 

Net outstanding claims liability 183.1 147.1 

Provision for deferred and suspended claims

Provision for deferred and suspended claims 34.0 98.8 

 34.0 98.8 

Total claims liabilities 217.1 245.9 

1. Includes $0.1 million of outstanding claims for nib Travel’s underwriting company Nomadic Insurance Benefits Limited which is 100% reinsured.
2.  Risk Equalisation Special Account (RESA) Levy represents expenses incurred under Risk Equalisation Trust Fund arrangements which are provided for within the legislation to support the principle of 

community rating.

a) Outstanding claims liability

Movements in the gross outstanding claims are as follows:

2021
$m

2020
$m

Gross outstanding claims at beginning of period 124.4 122.4 

 Risk margin (9.8) (8.4)

 Administration component (2.0) (1.8)

Central estimate at beginning of period 112.6 112.2 

 Change in claims incurred for the prior year (2.5) 2.3 

 Claims paid in respect of the prior year (107.8) (112.1)

 Claims incurred during the period (expected) 1,804.7 1,576.9 

 Claims paid during the period (1,666.0) (1,466.4)

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates (0.2) (0.3)

Central estimate at end of period 140.8 112.6 

Risk margin 14.8 9.8 

Administration component 2.1 2.0 

Gross outstanding claims at end of period 157.7 124.4 

17. Borrowings continued
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i) Actuarial methods and critical accounting judgements and estimates
Provision is made at the period end for the liability for outstanding claims which is measured as the central estimate of the 
expected payments against claims incurred but not settled at the reporting date under private health insurance contracts issued 
by the Group. The expected future payments include those in relation to claims reported but not yet paid and claims incurred but 
not yet reported. To account for inherent uncertainty in the central estimate a risk margin is added. However, given the uncertainty 
in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established. 
The estimated cost of claims includes allowances for Risk Equalisation Special Account (RESA) consequences and claims handling 
expense. The central estimates are calculated gross of any recoveries. A separate estimate and risk margin is made of the amounts 
that will be recoverable based upon the gross provision. The Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate 
information regarding its claims exposures.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims, the Group uses estimation techniques based upon statistical analysis of 
historical experience. Allowance is made, however, for changes or uncertainties which may create distortions in the underlying 
statistics or which might cause the cost of unsettled claims to increase or reduce when compared with the cost of previously 
settled claims, including changes in the Group’s processes which might accelerate or slow down the development and/or recording 
of paid or incurred claims, compared with the statistics from previous periods.

The outstanding claims estimate for Australian segments is derived based on three valuation classes, namely hospital and 
prostheses services combined, medical services, and general treatment. For the New Zealand segment the outstanding claims 
estimate is derived based on two valuation classes, surgical and medical. This analysis is supplemented by more granular analysis 
within classes as appropriate.

As most claims for health funds are generally settled within one year, no discounting of claims is applied as the difference between 
the undiscounted value of claims payments and the present value of claims payments is not likely to be material. Accordingly, 
reasonable changes in assumptions would not have a material impact on the outstanding claims balance.

nib notified the regulatory authorities in December 2020 that it had become aware of issues in its risk equalisation reporting, 
involving the inclusion of certain claims that may be ineligible. At balance date the Group recorded an increase in its risk 
equalisation estimate of $3.4 million including risk margin in relation to the matter. The risk margin of the underlying liability has 
been estimated to equate to a probability of adequacy of 95% (June 2020: 95%) for the Group. 

ii) Actuarial assumptions
The following assumptions have been made in determining the outstanding claims liability for claims incurred 12 months to the 
following financial years:

2021 2020

Hospital
%

Medical
%

General
%

Hospital
%

Medical
%

General
%

Australian Residents Health Insurance

Assumed proportion paid to date 90.8% 91.8% 98.5% 92.1% 91.6% 98.6%

Expense rate 0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 1.1% 1.1% 1.1%

Discount rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Risk margin 6.5% 6.5% 6.5% 5.5% 5.5% 5.5%

Risk equalisation rate 20.8% 20.8% 0.0% 27.6% 27.6% 0.0%

Allowance for risk equalisation claims eligibility  
(incl. risk margin) 3.4% 3.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Risk margin for risk equalisation 6.5% 6.5% 0.0% 6.5% 6.5% 0.0%

International Students Health Insurance

Assumed proportion paid to date 69.9% 90.5% 98.1% 72.7% 91.5% 99.3%

Expense rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Discount rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Risk margin 29.3% 29.3% 29.3% 29.4% 29.4% 29.4%

International Workers Health Insurance       

Assumed proportion paid to date 78.2% 88.3% 93.2% 72.1% 86.2% 93.4%

Expense rate 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5%

Discount rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Risk margin 29.3% 29.3% 29.3% 29.4% 29.4% 29.4%
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2021 2020

NZ Health Insurance
Surgical

%
Medical

%
Surgical

%
Medical

%

Assumed proportion paid to date 91.8% 92.0% 89.0% 88.7%  

Expense rate 3.2% 3.2% 3.0% 3.0%

Discount rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Risk margin 5.1% 5.1%  7.0% 7.0%  

The risk margin of the underlying liability has been estimated to equate to a probability of adequacy of 95% (June 2020: 95%) for 
the Group. 

The risk margin within each territory is set at the probability of adequacy adopted for the local accounts and is 95% in Australia 
(June 2020: 95%) and 75% in New Zealand (June 2020: 95%) with the benefit of diversification across the Group now negligible 
after adjustment to achieve an overall Group probability of adequacy of 95%.

The assumptions show the allowance for ineligible risk equalisation claims at the 95th percentile of sufficiency, expressed as 
an additional margin to the estimated outstanding claims expense. The risk margin for risk equalisation is applied to estimated 
outstanding risk equalisation liabilities excluding the allowance for ineligible claims.

iii) Impact of changes in key variables relating to insurance liability
The Group conducts sensitivity analysis to quantify the exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying variables. The valuations 
included in the reported results are calculated using certain assumptions about these variables as disclosed above. The movement in 
any key variable will impact the performance and equity of the Group. The table below describes how a change in each assumption 
will affect the insurance liabilities.

Key variable Description Impact of movement in variable

Chain ladder 
development 
factors

Chain ladder development factors were selected based on 
observations of historical claim payment experience. Particular 
attention was given to the development of the most recent 
12 months.

An increase or decrease in the chain ladder 
factors would lead to a higher or lower 
projection of the ultimate liability and a 
corresponding increase or decrease in 
claims expense respectively.

 Expense rate Claims handling expenses were calculated by reference to 
both historical and forecast total claims handling costs as a 
percentage of historical and forecast claims payments.

An estimate for the internal costs of handling 
claims is included in the outstanding claims 
liability. An increase or decrease in the 
expense rate assumption would have a 
corresponding impact on claims expense.

Discount rate As most claims for health funds are generally settled within 
one year, no discounting of claims is applied as the difference 
between the undiscounted value of claims payments and the 
present value of claims payments is not likely to be material.

N/A

Risk 
equalisation 
allowance

In simplified terms, each organisation is required to contribute to 
the risk equalisation pool or is paid from the pool to equalise their 
hospital claims exposure to policyholders aged over 55 years 
of age and in respect of high cost claims. This is the allowance 
made in respect of the claims incurred but not yet paid.

An estimate for the risk equalisation cost 
is included in the outstanding claims 
liability. An increase or decrease in the 
risk equalisation allowance would have a 
corresponding impact on RESA Levy.

Risk margin The process of estimating insurance liabilities is uncertain by 
nature due to the difficulty of estimating outcomes of events that 
will occur in the future. A risk margin is estimated to increase 
reserves to a level that is expected to provide a 95% probability of 
sufficiency for the outstanding claims liability, based on an analysis 
of past group payment experience volatility (June 2020: 95%).

An estimate of the amount of uncertainty in 
the determination of the central estimate. 
An increase or decrease in the risk margin 
would have a corresponding impact on 
claims expense.

18. Claims liabilities continued

a) Outstanding claims liability continued
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The table below describes how a change in each assumption will affect the profit after tax.

Variable
Movement in 

variable

2021
Profit after tax

$m

2020
Profit after tax

$m

Chain ladder development factors +0.5% (13.0) (12.0)

 -0.5% 13.0 12.0 

Expense rate +1.0% (1.1) (0.9)

 -1.0% 1.1 0.9 

Risk equalisation allowance +2.5% (1.9) (1.4)

 -2.5% 1.9 1.4 

Risk margin +1.0% (1.2) (1.0)

 -1.0% 1.2 1.0 

b) Provision for deferred and suspended claims

i) Critical accounting judgements and estimates
On 12 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the outbreak of coronavirus (COVID-19) a global pandemic. Due to the 
temporary closure of elective surgery and reduced access to ancillary benefits, Private Health Insurers (PHIs) in both Australia and 
New Zealand experienced unusually low claims volumes in March, April and May 2020 with unusually low claim volumes again 
experienced during the various State lockdowns in FY21. 

Given the lower claims activity, the Group believes it has an obligation to recognise a provision for deferred claims based on a 
present constructive obligation resulting from a past event under relevant accounting standards. In nib’s case, the event (impacts 
of COVID-19 on the availability of and access to procedures since March 2020) has triggered the deferral of claims activity and 
benefits that would have otherwise been provided to members. If cover remains in place, a responsibility exists to provide for these 
claims that would have ordinarily been incurred under normal circumstances. nib members with continuing cover would have had 
an expectation to use and therefore claim on hospital, surgical and ancillary services had the pandemic not arisen, notwithstanding 
the backlog of activity. The provision is therefore management’s estimate of the cost of claims which might have occurred up until 
30 June but did not as a result of COVID-19 impacts and are therefore deferred at that date. 

In estimating the provision, four key steps were undertaken:

1.  Estimating the gross reduction in claims due to temporary closure of elective surgery and reduced access to ancillary 
benefits. Incurred claims estimates produced across the period from March 2020 to 30 June 2021 as part of the outstanding 
claims provisioning process were compared to the forecast produced leading up to March 2020 when COVID-19 impacted 
claims activity. The difference between forecast and actual incurred was calculated by modality (claim type) to estimate the 
financial impact of COVID-19 across the March 2020 to June 2021 period. 

2.  Estimating risk equalisation levy impact (Australian claims only). The risk equalisation impact of COVID-19 was estimated 
by applying consistent ratios used for the risk equalisation amounts in outstanding claims.

3.  Applying a deferral rate (percentage of the gross reduction in claims to date due to COVID-19 that is expected to be 
caught up in later periods). Certain factors need to be considered when assessing that not all estimated savings translate to 
a claims payment backlog at balance date. For example:

 a. there has continued to be lapses of memberships in the normal course of business; 
 b. some types of private health benefits, particularly in the ancillary category, are less likely to have been deferred; 
 c.  catch up of benefits between ancillary and hospital categories differs due to capacity in facilities, lead time to arrange 

procedures etc.

 nib’s deferral rates have been estimated as follows: 

 – 34% (June 2020: 80%) of gross Australian claims reduction in 2021; and 
 – 90% (June 2020: 90%) of New Zealand,

  to be deferred on the basis that this represents the 2021 and 2022 financial year claims which are expected to be inflated 
above normal trends due to COVID-19. 

4.  Deducting the catch up of claims to date. Incurred claims estimates for this year ended 30 June 2021 were compared to 
February 2020 forecast incurred claims (pre COVID-19 impacted claims activity). The difference between actual incurred and 
prior period incurred was calculated by modality (claim type) and used to estimate the catch up of claims to date. 

At 30 June 2021 the liability remaining is only for Australian hospital claims and associated risk equalisation levy. No liability 
remains for Australian ancillary claims and New Zealand claims.

Risks and uncertainties have been taken into account in the measurement of the liability and are reflected in the key inputs and 
judgements. The key risks associated in estimating the components of the provision is the under/over estimation of the claims 
deferral rate and to a lesser extent, the under/over estimation of the claims savings (net of risk equalisation impact).
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Movements in the deferred and suspense claims are as follows: 

2021
$m

2020
$m

Net Deferred and Suspended Claims at beginning of period 98.8 –

Claims handling costs (0.8) –

Gross Deferred and Suspended Claims at beginning of period 98.0 –

Change in deferred and suspended claims estimate for prior period (46.1) –

Deferred and suspended claims provision made during the period 24.6 98.0 

Deferred and suspended claims paid during the period (42.7) –

Gross Deferred and Suspended Claims at end of period 33.8 98.0 

Claims handling costs 0.2 0.8 

Net Deferred and Suspended Claims at end of period 34.0 98.8 

The table below describes how a change in the estimate relating to deferred and suspended claims provision disclosed above will 
affect the profit after tax.

Variable
Movement in 

variable

2021
Profit after tax

$m

2020
Profit after tax

$m

Reduction in claims activity +2.0% (0.5) (1.3)

 -2.0% 0.5 1.3 

Claims deferral rate +10.0% (7.0) (7.8)

 -10.0% 7.0 7.8 

Catch up of claims to date +20.0% 4.8 –

 -20.0% (4.8) –

19. Unearned premium liability and unexpired risk liability

a) Unearned premium liability

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current 218.1 223.3

Non-current 31.3 34.8

The unearned premium liability reflects premiums paid in advance by customers. 

Movements in the unearned premium liability are as follows:

2021
$m

2020
$m

Unearned premium liability as at 1 July 258.1 257.4 

Deferral of premiums on contracts written in the period 214.6 220.0 

Earning of premiums written in previous periods (223.3) (219.3)

Unearned premium liability as at 30 June 249.4 258.1 

b) Unexpired risk liability

No deficiency was identified as at 30 June 2021 and 2020 that resulted in an unexpired risk liability needing to be recognised.

18. Claims liabilities continued
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c) Critical accounting judgements and estimates

A liability adequacy test is required to be performed for the period over which the insurer is ‘on risk’ in respect of premiums paid in 
advance. At each reporting date, the adequacy of the unearned premium liability is assessed by considering current estimates of all 
expected future cash flows relating to future claims arising from the rights and obligations created. If the sum of the present value 
of the expected future cash flows relating to future claims plus the additional risk margin to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the 
central estimate exceeds the unearned premium liability, less related intangible assets and related deferred acquisition costs, then 
the unearned premium is deemed to be deficient, with the deficiency being recorded in the income statement and an unexpired 
risk liability created. The Group applies a risk margin to achieve a 75% (June 2020: 75%) probability of adequacy for future claims 
which is lower than the 95% achieved in the estimate of the outstanding claims liability, refer to Note 18(a)(ii) as the former is 
in effect an impairment test used to test the sufficiency of the unearned premium liability whereas the latter is a measurement 
accounting policy used in determining the carrying value of the outstanding claims liability. No deficiency was identified as at 
30 June 2021 and 2020 that resulted in an unexpired risk liability needing to be recognised. 

This test is also extended beyond recognised unearned premium liability to include premiums renewable until the next repricing 
review, usually 1 April each year. 

20. Premium payback liability

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current 8.2 3.5 

Non-current 9.5 16.6 

Movements in the premium payback liability are as follows: 

2021
$m

2020
$m

Gross premium payback liability at beginning of period 20.1 19.3 

 Value of payments currently being processed (1.1) (0.7)

 Risk margin (0.6) (0.5)

Central estimate at beginning of period 18.4 18.1 

 Funding/new accrued 2.7 2.3 

 Unwind discount rate 0.2 0.3 

 Interest rate movement impact (0.5) 0.8 

 Premium payback payments (4.4) (2.2)

 Others (0.3) (0.5)

 Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates (0.1) (0.4)

Central estimate at end of the period 16.0 18.4 

 Value of payments currently being processed 1.2 1.1 

 Risk margin 0.5 0.6 

Total premium payback liability as at end of period 17.7 20.1 

Risk exposure

Information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to premium payback liability is provided in Note 3(b).

a) Actuarial methods and critical accounting judgements and estimates

The premium payback liability represents the accrued amount of premium expected to be repaid to certain New Zealand health 
insurance policyholders. A number of nib nz limited’s health insurance policies have a benefit whereby policyholders receive a 
proportion of premiums paid less claims received over the life of their policy, ‘premium payback’, if certain conditions are met. 
This liability represents a long term health insurance contract liability. The liability was determined based on the discounted value of 
accumulated excess of premiums over claims at an individual policy level, adjusted for GST recoveries and expected future lapses.

A risk margin at 95% probability of sufficiency was estimated by assuming there are no future lapses. Most of the premium 
payback reserve is held in respect of a group of customers where the historical lapse rate is already very low. 
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The following assumptions have been made in determining the premium payback liability:

2021 2020

Lapse rate until 3 years from premium payback date 2.0% - 10.0% 2.0% - 10.0%

Lapse rate within 3 years of premium payback date 0.0% - 1.0% 0.0% - 1.0%

Expense rate 0.0% 0.0%

Discount rate for succeeding and following year 0.57% - 1.00% 0.3% - 0.4%

Risk margin 2.7% 3.1%

The risk margin has been estimated to equate to a 95% probability of adequacy (2020: 95%).

b) Sensitivity analysis

The Group conducts sensitivity analysis to quantify the exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying actuarial assumptions. 
The movement in any key variable will impact the performance and equity of the Group. The table below provides a description of the 
processes used to determine these assumptions, as well as how a change in each assumption will affect the insurance liabilities.

Key variable Description Impact of movement in variable

Lapse rate Rate used in calculating the discounted provision 
to allow for expected lapses, based on historical 
experience.

An increase or decrease in the lapse assumption would 
have an inverse impact on the premium payback liability 
and risk margin.

Discount rate Rate used in calculating the discounted provision 
to allow for expected investment income, based 
on current yields on New Zealand government 
debt (risk free rates).

An increase or decrease in the discount rate assumption 
would have an inverse impact on the premium payback 
liability.

Risk margin An estimate of the amount of uncertainty in the 
determination of the central estimate. 

An increase or decrease in the risk margin would have a 
corresponding impact on the premium payback liability.

The table below describes how a change in each assumption will affect the profit after tax.

2021 2020

Variable
Movement in 

variable

Profit 
after tax 

$m

Profit 
after tax 

$m

Lapse rate +1.0% 0.3 0.4 

-1.0% (0.3) (0.4)

Discount rate +1.0% 0.6 0.7 

-1.0% (0.5) (0.7)

Risk margin +1.0% (0.1) (0.1)

-1.0% 0.1 0.1 

c) Unexpired risk liability

A liability adequacy test was performed allowing for the expected cash flows of each policy over the entire product life.

The future cash flows include:

• Expected future payments for claims including risk margin; 

• Expected future payments for policy paybacks and management expenses; and 

• Expected future revenue from premiums and investment income.

No deficiency was identified at 30 June 2021 (2020: nil) that resulted in an unexpired risk liability needing to be recognised.

20. Premium payback liability continued
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21. Provision for employee entitlements

2021
$m

2020
$m

Current

Long service leave 4.8 4.8 

Termination benefits 2.8 2.0 

7.6 6.8 

Non-current

Long service leave 3.2 3.2 

3.2 3.2 

Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months

The current provision for long service leave includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required 
period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The entire amount is 
presented as current, since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. However, based on past experience, 
the Group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of the provision or require payment within the next 12 months. The 
following amounts reflect leave that is not to be expected to be taken or paid within the next 12 months.

2021
$m

2020
$m

Long service leave obligation expected to be settled after 12 months 4.4 4.2 

4.4 4.2 

a) Accounting policy

i)  Short-term 
obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave are recognised in 
payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The portion not expected to be settled within 
12 months is discounted based on expected settlement dates. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave 
are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rate paid or payable.

ii)  Other long-term 
employee benefit 
obligations

The liability for long service leave is the amount of the future benefit that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and prior periods. The liability is calculated using expected future 
increases in wage and salary rates and expected settlement dates, and is discounted using G100 treasury 
discount rates at the balance sheet date which have the maturity dates approximating to the terms of 
nib’s obligations.

iii) Bonus plans A liability for employee benefits in the form of bonus plans is recognised in other creditors when at least 
one of the following conditions is met:

• there are formal terms in the plan for determining the amount of the benefit, or

• the amounts to be paid are determined before the time of completion of the financial report, or

• past practice gives clear evidence of the amount of the obligation.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when they are settled. 

iv)  Termination 
benefits

Liabilities for termination benefits, not in connection with the acquisition of an entity or operation, are 
recognised when a detailed plan for the terminations has been developed and a valid expectation has 
been raised with those employees effected that the terminations will be carried out without possibility of 
withdrawal. The liabilities for termination benefits are recognised as current provisions, as liabilities for 
termination benefits are expected to be settled within 12 months of reporting date.
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22. Contributed equity

a) Share capital
2021

$m
2020

$m

Ordinary shares

Fully paid 132.1 127.4 

Other equity securities

Treasury shares (4.9) (6.0)

Total contributed equity 127.2 121.4 

b) Movements in share capital
Date Details No. of shares Price $ $m

1 Jul 2019 Opening balance  455,551,378 120.3 

30 Sep 2019 Shares issued – Dividend reinvestment plan  533,454 7.32 3.9 

7 Apr 2020 Shares issued – Dividend reinvestment plan  734,694 4.30 3.2 

30 Jun 2020 Balance  456,819,526 127.4 

1 Jul 2020 Opening balance  456,819,526 127.4 

6 Oct 2020 Shares issued – Dividend reinvestment plan  346,540 4.22 1.5 

6 Apr 2021 Shares issued – Dividend reinvestment plan  576,137 5.52 3.2 

30 June 2021 Balance  457,742,203 132.1 

c) Treasury shares

Treasury shares are shares in nib holdings limited that are held by the nib Holdings Ltd Share Ownership Plan Trust (trust) for the 
purpose of issuing shares under the Group’s Executive management Short-Term Incentive and Long-Term Incentive share plans. 
See Note 35 for more information.

Date Details No. of shares $m

30 Jun 2019 Balance 920,760 5.1 

Acquisition of shares by the Trust 1,062,658 6.3 

Employee share issue – LTIP (628,895) (3.9)

Employee share issue – STI (283,080) (1.5)

30 Jun 2020 Balance 1,071,443 6.0 

Acquisition of shares by the Trust 223,679 1.1 

Employee share forfeiture 52,071  –

Employee share issue – LTIP (141,334) (1.0)

Employee share issue – STI (192,022) (1.2)

30 June 2021 Balance 1,013,837 4.9 

d) Accounting policy

i) Ordinary shares Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. If the entity reacquires its own equity 
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back, those instruments are deducted from equity and 
the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss and the consideration 
paid including any directly attributable incremental cost (net of income taxes) is recognised directly in equity. 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the 
company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every 
holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a 
poll each share is entitled to one vote.

ii) Employee share trust The Group has formed a trust to administer the Group’s executive management Short-Term Incentive and 
Long-Term Incentive share plans. This trust is consolidated, as the substance of the relationship is that the 
trust is controlled by the Group. 

Shares held by the nib Holdings Ltd Share Ownership Plan Trust are disclosed as treasury shares and 
deducted from contributed equity.
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23. Retained profits

2021
$m

20201

$m

Balance at the beginning of the year 470.5 497.8 

Net profit attributable to owners of nib holdings limited 161.1 87.9 

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 16 – (10.5)

Dividends (63.9) (104.7)

Balance at the end of the year 567.7 470.5 

1 Comparative information has been restated. For further details, refer to Note 31.

24. Reserves

2021
$m

2020
$m

Share-based payments 2.6 1.5 

Share-based payments exercised (10.4) (10.2)

Foreign currency translation 3.0 3.2 

(4.8) (5.5)

Movements in reserves

Notes
2021

$m
2020

$m

Share-based payments 

Balance at the beginning of the year 1.5 3.3 

Performance rights expense 1.9 (0.4)

Transfer to share-based payments exercised reserve on exercise of performance rights (0.8) (1.4)

Balance at the end of the financial year 2.6 1.5 

Share-based payments exercised

Balance at the beginning of the year (10.2) (7.7)

Transfer from share-based payments reserve on exercise of performance rights 0.8 1.4 

Issue of shares held by nib Holdings Ltd Share Ownership Plan Trust to employees (1.0) (3.9)

Balance at the end of the financial year (10.4) (10.2)

Foreign currency translation

Balance at the beginning of the year 3.2 4.9 

Currency translation differences arising during the year – gross (0.2) (2.1)

Deferred tax 8(a)(iii) – 0.4 

Balance at the end of the financial year 3.0 3.2 

Nature and purpose of reserves

i)  Share-based 
payments 

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of performance rights and bonus 
share rights issued to employees but not exercised.

ii)  Share-based 
payments exercised

The share-based payments exercised reserve is used to recognise the difference between fair value of 
performance rights and bonus share rights accumulated in the share based payments reserve and cost 
of exercising the rights.

iii)  Foreign currency 
translation

Exchange rate differences arising on translation of foreign controlled entities are recognised in other 
comprehensive income as described in Note 1(c) and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. 
The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is disposed of.
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25. Dividends

a) Ordinary shares

2021
$m

2020
$m

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2020 of 4.0 cents (2019 – 13.0 cents) per fully paid share paid 
on 6 October 2020

Fully franked based on tax paid at 30% 18.3 59.2 

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2021 of 10.0 cents (2020 – 10.0 cents) per fully paid share paid 
on 6 April 2021

Fully franked based on tax paid at 30% 45.6 45.5 

Total dividends provided for or paid 63.9 104.7 

b) Dividends not recognised at year end

2021
$m

2020
$m

In addition to the above dividends, since the end of the year the Directors have recommended the payment of a 
final dividend of 14.0 cents (2020 – 4.0 cents) per fully paid ordinary share, fully franked based on tax paid at 30%. 
The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to be paid on 5 October 2021 out of retained profits at 
30 June 2021, but not recognised as a liability at the end of the year, is: 64.1 18.3 

c) Franked dividends 

The franked portion of the final dividends recommended after 30 June 2021 will be franked out of existing franking credits or out of 
franking credits arising from the payment of income tax in the year ending 30 June 2021.

2021
$m

2020
$m

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years to equity holders of parent entity based on a tax rate of 30% 121.4 105.4 

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

• Franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax;

• Franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date; and

• Franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

d) Accounting policy

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, 
on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date.
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26. Earnings per share

2021 20201

Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company 
used in calculating basic/diluted EPS $m 161.1 87.9 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares #m 457.2 456.1 

Basic/Diluted EPS cents  35.2  19.3 

1 Comparative information has been restated. For further details, refer to Note 31.

a) Accounting policy

i)  Basic earnings 
per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

• the profit attributable to equity holders of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity 
other than ordinary shares

• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

ii)  Diluted earnings 
per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account:

• the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares; and

•  the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding 
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

b) Information concerning the classification of shares

i) Performance rights Performance rights granted to employees under the nib holdings Long-Term Incentive Plan are 
considered to be potential ordinary shares and are only included in the determination of diluted 
earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive. The performance rights have not been 
included in the determination of basic earnings per share. Details relating to the performance rights are 
set out in the Remuneration Report on page 34.

The total 2,011,152 performance rights granted (2020 – 1,790,138) are not included in the calculation 
of diluted earnings per share because they are contingently issuable ordinary shares and conditions 
were not satisfied at 30 June 2021. These performance rights could potentially dilute basic earnings 
per share in the future.
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27. Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost 
of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group has a number of levers, including adjusting the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders, returning capital to shareholders, issuing new shares, selling assets, raising or reducing debt or buying back shares.

nib holdings limited

At 30 June 2021 the Group had available capital of $65.7 million above our internal benchmark (after allowing for the payment of a 
fully franked final ordinary dividend of 14.0 cents per share, totalling $64.1 million, in October 2021).

Below is a reconciliation of net assets to available capital as at the reporting end date (after allowing for payment of a final dividend):

2021
$m

2020
$m

Net assets 706.2 603.1 

Less: nib health fund capital required (514.4) (444.5)

nib nz capital required (100.0) (94.9)

Investment in associates (17.8) (17.5)

Capital required looking forward 12 months (9.7) (24.7)

nib nz intangibles (31.5) (32.9)

iihi intangibles (18.4) (21.4)

nib travel intangibles (102.7) (113.5)

Charitable foundation (16.1) (16.7)

Borrowings 230.7 230.9 

Other assets and liabilities 3.5 4.1 

Final dividend (64.1) (18.3)

Available capital (after allowing for payment of final dividend) 65.7 53.7 

nib health funds limited 

nib health funds limited, controlled entities, are required to comply with the Solvency and Capital Adequacy Standards under 
Schedule 2 and 3 of the Private Health Insurance (Health Benefits Fund Administration) Rules 2007, the Rules are made for the 
purposes of Part 4-4 of the Private Health Insurance Act 2007.

To comply with the Solvency 
Standard, nib health funds 
limited:

(i) must ensure that, at all times, the value of cash must be equal to or greater than 
a specified cash management amount, plus any solvency supervisory adjustment 
(Section 4.2 of the Solvency Standard);

(ii) must have, and comply with, a board endorsed, liquidity management plan designed to 
ensure compliance with the solvency requirements described above, and set minimum 
liquidity requirements and management action triggers (Section 4.3 of the Solvency 
Standard).

To comply with the Capital 
Adequacy Standard, nib health 
funds limited:

(i) must ensure that at all times the value of its assets is not less than the amounts calculated 
under Section 4.2 (a) and (b) of the Capital Adequacy Standard (Capital Adequacy 
Requirement);

(ii) must have, and comply with, a written, Board endorsed capital management policy.
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nib health funds limited has a capital management plan which establishes a target for capital held in excess of the regulatory 
requirement; the aim is to keep a sufficient buffer in line with the Board’s attitude to and tolerance for risk. The internal capital target 
ensures nib has a minimum level of capital given certain stressed capital scenarios. This currently approximates to 21.2% of total 
projected premiums for the next 12 months.

Any capital in excess of the benchmark, taking a 12-month forward looking view, will be reduced by way of dividend to nib holdings 
limited. nib health funds limited paid dividends of $30.7 million in August 2020 and $58.8 million in February 2021 to nib holdings limited. 

The surplus assets over benchmark at 30 June 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

2021
$m

2020
$m

Total assets nib health funds limited (excluding unclosed business contributions – unearned) 1,216.5 1,198.8 

Capital adequacy requirement 823.7 792.6 

Surplus assets for Capital Adequacy1 392.8 406.2 

Net assets nib health funds limited 540.2 461.4 

Internal capital target 514.4 444.5 

Surplus assets over internal capital target 25.8 16.9 

1. Surplus assets for Capital Adequacy based on most recent APRA return.

nib nz limited

nib nz limited, a controlled entity, is required to comply with the Solvency Standard for Non-Life Insurance Business (2014) published 
by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand (RBNZ). The Solvency Standards determine the Minimum Solvency Capital (MSC) required. 
A requirement of nib nz limited’s insurance licence is that it maintains capital above the MSC.

The overriding objective underpinning 
nib nz limited’s capital management 
approach is to operate with a level 
of capital judged to be commercially 
prudent and within the bounds of the 
Board’s risk appetite which achieves a 
balance between:

Maintaining a buffer above the RBNZ MSC for nib nz limited;

Maintaining a level of capital that ensures an appropriate financial strength rating; 
and

Avoiding holding an excessive level of capital, which would otherwise act to reduce 
returns on capital for the Group. 

Any capital in excess of the benchmark, taking a 12-month forward looking view, will be reduced by way of dividend to 
nib nz holdings limited, unless management decide to retain funds for strategic purposes. nib nz limited paid dividends of 
NZD $4.7 million in February 2021 to nib nz holdings limited.

The surplus assets over benchmark at 30 June 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

2021
$m

2020
$m

Actual Solvency Capital 38.7 30.4 

Minimum Solvency Capital 13.2 12.6 

Solvency Margin 25.5 17.8 

Net assets nib nz limited 111.4 97.1 

Capital Adequacy Coverage Ratio  2.93  2.42 

Internal benchmark 2.25xMSC 2.25xMSC

Internal benchmark requirement 29.6 28.3 

Surplus assets over internal benchmark 9.1 2.1 



100 nib holdings limited | Annual Report 2021

notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

28. Commitments for expenditure

a) Capital expenditure commitments

2021
$m

2020
$m

Payable:

– not longer than one year 1.9 1.5 

1.9 1.5 

b) Charitable foundation commitments

2021
$m

2020
$m

Payable:

– not longer than one year – 0.9 

– longer than one year and not longer than five years – 0.2 

– 1.1 

29. Contingent liabilities

a) Guarantees and financial support

nib holdings limited has provided a guarantee and indemnity to NAB on behalf of nib nz holdings limited in respect of the 
NZD $70.0 million term loan facility.

nib holdings limited has in place a commitment to fund advances up to NZD $10.0 million to nib nz holdings limited upon written 
request. NZD $2.1 million has been drawn down as at 30 June 2021. Any advances would be on the same terms as contained in 
current intercompany loans between nib holdings limited and nib nz holdings limited.

nib holdings limited has given an undertaking to extend financial support to a number of other subsidiaries within the Group, and 
Footprints Fundraising Inc. (Footprints) by subordinating repayment of debts owed by the entities to nib holdings limited, in favour 
of all other creditors. The amount owed from Footprints at balance date is $24,135. This undertaking has been provided as a result 
of each of these subsidiaries experiencing deficiencies of capital and reserves, and is intended to enable the entities to continue 
their operations and fulfil all financial obligations now and in the future. The undertaking for Footprints is valid from 1 January 2021 
to 31 December 2021.

30. Events occurring after the balance sheet date

In July 2021, the Board approved the return of $15.0 million in additional claims savings to members due to COVID-19 impacts by 
way of an ex gratia payment on their next premium payment between the period 1 September and 31 December 2021.

There have been no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly affected, 
or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years.
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31. Change in accounting policy

The Group previously capitalised costs incurred in configuring or customising Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements as 
intangible assets, as the Group considered that it would benefit from those costs to implement the SaaS arrangements over 
the expected renewable term of the arrangements. Following the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) agenda decision on 
Configuration or Customisation Costs in a Cloud Computing Arrangement in March 2021, the Group has reconsidered its accounting 
treatment and adopted the treatment set out in the IFRS IC agenda decision, which is to recognise those costs as intangible 
assets only if the implementation activities create an intangible asset that the entity controls and the intangible asset meets the 
recognition criteria. Costs that do not result in intangible assets are expensed as incurred, unless they are paid to the suppliers of 
the SaaS arrangement to significantly customise the cloud-based software for the Group, in which case the costs are recorded as a 
prepayment for services and amortised over the expected renewable term of the arrangements.

As a result of this change in accounting policy, the Group has determined that costs totalling $9.0 million ($4.3 million relating to FY21 
and $4.7 million to prior periods, of which $3.2 million relates to FY20 and $1.5 million to FY19) relating to the implementation of SaaS 
arrangements would need to be expensed when they were incurred.

The change in policy has been applied retrospectively and comparative information has been restated. This had the following impact 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Consolidated Income Statement

Restated
2020

$m

Change
2020

$m

Previously 
reported

2020
$m

Other underwriting expenses (148.5) (3.2) (145.3)

Underwriting expenses (317.0) (3.2) (313.8)

Underwriting result 170.8 (3.2) 174.0 

Operating profit 114.9 (3.2) 118.1 

Profit before income tax 121.8 (3.2) 125.0 

Income tax expense (34.8) 1.0 (35.8)

Profit for the year 87.0 (2.2) 89.2 

Profit/(loss) for the year is attributable to:

Owners of nib holdings limited 87.9 (2.2) 90.1 

87.0 (2.2) 89.2 

Cents Cents Cents

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the company

Basic earnings per share 19.3 (0.5) 19.8

Diluted earnings per share 19.3 (0.5) 19.8

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company

Basic earnings per share 19.3 (0.5) 19.8

Diluted earnings per share 19.3 (0.5) 19.8
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Restated 
2020 

$m

Change
2020

$m

Previously 
Reported

2020
$m

ASSETS

Intangible assets 334.7 (4.7) 339.4 

Total assets 1,677.8 (4.7) 1,682.5 

LIABILITIES

Current tax liabilities 22.5 (1.4) 23.9 

Total liabilities 1,074.7 (1.4) 1,076.1 

Net assets 603.1 (3.3) 606.4 

EQUITY

Retained profits 470.5 (3.3) 473.8 

Capital and reserves attributable to owners of nib holdings limited 586.4 (3.3) 589.7 

Total equity 603.1 (3.3) 606.4 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Restated 
2020 

$m

Change
2020

$m

Previously 
Reported

2020
$m

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (452.5) 4.0 (448.5)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 207.6 4.0 211.6 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangibles (23.0) (4.0) (27.0)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (59.4) (4.0) (63.4)

32. Remuneration of auditors

2021
$

2020
$

a) PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia

Audit and review of financial reports 993,865 837,697

Other statutory assurance services 153,988 180,400

Other services

Tax compliance services 12,563  –

International tax consulting and tax advice on mergers and acquisitions  – 1,416

Accounting advice and support including one-off transactions  – 47,940

Regulatory returns advice 24,786 24,480

Regulatory returns agreed upon procedures 21,420  –

Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 1,206,622 1,091,933

b) Network firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers

Audit and review of financial reports 336,534 289,521

Other statutory assurance services 13,258 12,996

Total remuneration of network firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers 349,792 302,517

Total auditors’ remuneration 1,556,414 1,394,450

31. Change in accounting policy continued
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33. Interest in other entities

a) Subsidiaries and trusts

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following controlled entities in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in Note 1(b): 

Place of Incorporation

Beneficial ownership by 
Consolidated entity

2021
%

2020
%

nib holdings limited Australia
nib health funds limited Australia 100 100

nib servicing facilities pty limited Australia 100 100
nib Life pty limited Australia 100 100

nib Global Pty Limited Australia 100 100
IMAN Australian Health Plans Pty Limited Australia 100 100
nib nz holdings limited New Zealand 100 100

nib nz limited New Zealand 100 100
nib Options Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Realsurgeons Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Realself Pty Limited Australia 100 100
nib Options Holdings (Thailand) Co Limited Thailand 100 100

nib Options (Thailand) Co Limited Thailand 100 100
Digital Health Ventures Pty Limited Australia 50 50
nib Philippines Pty Limited Australia 100 100
nib Asia Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Nuo Ban Business Information Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd China 100 100
nib International Student Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
nib Travel Pty Limited (formerly World Nomads Group Pty Limited) Australia 100 100

WNG Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100
nib International Assistance Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Suresave Pty Limited Australia 100 100
SureSave Net Limited New Zealand 100 100
Sure-Save.net Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Travel Insurance Direct Holdings Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Travel Insurance Direct Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Travel Insurance Direct (New Zealand) Ltd New Zealand 100 100
Cheap Travel Insurance Pty Limited Australia 100 100

nib Travel Insurance Distribution Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Surecan Technology Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
The World Nomads Group Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

World Nomads Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
World Nomads Inc United States of America 100 100
World Nomads Limited United Kingdom 100 100
World Nomads (Canada) Ltd Canada 100 100
WorldNomads.com Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

nib Travel Services (Australia) Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Get Insurance Group Pty Limited Australia 100 100
World Experiences International Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

World Experiences Seguros De Viagrem Brasil LTDA Brazil 100 100
nib Travel Services Limited Cayman Islands 100 100
Nomadic Insurance Benefits Holdings Limited Ireland 100 100

nib Travel Services Europe Limited Ireland 100 100
World Nomads Travel Lifestyle (Europe) Ltd Ireland 100 100
nib Travel Services Ireland Limited Ireland 100 100

Travellr Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Travel Insurance Compared Pty Limited Australia 100 100
TravelClear Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Hello Travel Insurance Pty Limited Australia 100 100
World Experiences Pty Limited Australia 100 100
World Experiences Group Pty Limited Australia 100 100
World Experiences Travel Pty Limited Australia 100 100
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nib holdings limited also controls the following trusts: 

• nib Holdings Ltd Share Ownership Plan Trust

• nib salary sacrifice plan and matching plan trust

• nib Salary Sacrifice (NZ) and Matching Plan (NZ) Trust

• nib holdings – nib nz Employee Share Purchase Scheme Trust

b) Consolidation of nib foundation trust and nib foundation limited

The constitution of nib foundation limited (as trustee for the nib foundation trust) is to enable receipt of unclaimed dividends of 
the parent entity (nib holdings limited) to fund charitable donations to the community. The parent is required to consolidate the nib 
foundation trust. The assets of the nib foundation trust are shown as restricted in use and the retained earnings are shown as a 
restricted reserve of the Group given they can only be distributed for charitable purposes under the constitution of nib foundation trust 
and are not available to owners of nib holdings limited.

c) Interest in associates and joint ventures

Set out below are the associates and joint ventures of the Group as at 30 June 2021 which, in the opinion of the Directors, are 
material to the Group. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the 
Group. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is 
the same as the proportion of voting rights held. 

Name of entity

Place of 
business/
country of 

incorporation

% of ownership interest
Nature of 

relationship
Measurement 

method

Carrying amount 
$m

2021 2020 2021 2020

Honeysuckle Health Pty Ltd Australia 50.0% 50.0% Joint venture Equity 5.6 8.4 

Aohua Insurance Consulting Co Ltd 
(formerly Sino-Australia Insurance 
Consulting Co., Ltd) China 75.1% 75.1% Joint venture Equity 8.2 6.4 

Kangaroo Technologies Ltd (formerly 
Kangaroo Insurance Broker Co., Ltd.) China 24.9% 24.9% Joint venture Equity 4.0 2.1 

Total material equity accounting 
investments 17.8 16.9 

Honeysuckle Health Pty Ltd is a specialist healthcare data science and services company. It is a strategic investment complementing 
the Group’s health insurance business.

Aohua Insurance Consulting Co Ltd and Kangaroo Technologies Ltd currently offers health checks and will offer lump-sum critical 
illness products across China. It is a strategic investment which utilises the Group’s knowledge and expertise in health insurance but 
will limit the Group’s exposure to underwriting risk through a reduced equity holding.

During the financial year nib Asia Pty Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary) invested a further $3.8 million in Aohua Insurance 
Consulting Co Ltd and $1.9 million in Kangaroo Technologies Ltd for the acquisition of an underwriting business, whilst maintaining 
ownership interest percentage.

33. Interest in other entities continued
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i) Summarised financial information for associates and joint ventures
The tables below provide summarised financial information for those joint ventures and associates that are material to the Group. 
The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant associates and joint ventures and 
not the Group’s share of those amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the equity 
method, including fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in accounting policy. 

Summarised balance sheet

Honeysuckle Health Pty Ltd Aohua Insurance Consulting Co Ltd Kangaroo Technologies Ltd
2021

$m
2020

$m
2021

$m
2020

$m
2021

$m
2020

$m

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12.9 17.8 5.3 4.8 10.8 2.6 

Other current assets 0.9 0.2 5.1 3.4 2.3 8.1 

Total current assets 13.8 18.0 10.4 8.2 13.1 10.7 

Non-current assets 0.7 0.8 1.0 0.7 5.3 0.1 

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) 2.4 1.4 0.3 0.3 2.5 2.5 

Other current liabilities 0.3 0.1 0.1  –  –  –

Total current liabilities 2.7 1.5 0.4 0.3 2.5 2.5 

Total non-current liabilities 0.6 0.4  –  –  –  –

Net assets 11.2 16.9 11.0 8.6 15.9 8.3 

Reconciliation to carrying amounts:

Opening net assets 16.9  – 8.6 10.2 8.3 9.7 

Investment  – 20.0 5.1  – 7.6  –

Profit/(loss) for the period (5.7) (3.1) (2.7) (1.6)  – (1.4)

Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  –  –  –

Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  –  –

Closing net assets 11.2 16.9 11.0 8.6 15.9 8.3 

Group’s share in % 50.0% 50.0% 75.1% 75.1% 24.9% 24.9%

Group’s share in $ 5.6 8.4 8.2 6.4 4.0 2.1 

Goodwill  –  –  –  –  –  –

Carrying amount 5.6 8.4 8.2 6.4 4.0 2.1 

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Revenue 5.5  – 6.6 1.2 0.7  –

Interest income  –  –  – 0.1  –  –

Depreciation and amortisation (0.3) (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)  –

Interest expense  –  – (0.1)  –  –  –

Income tax expense  –  –  –  –  –  –

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations (5.7) (3.1) (2.7) (1.6)  – (1.4)

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations  –  –  –  –  –  –

Profit/(loss) for the period (5.7) (3.1) (2.7) (1.6)  – (1.4)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  –  –  –  –  –  –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) (5.7) (3.1) (2.7) (1.6)  – (1.4)

Dividends received from associates and joint 
venture entities  –  – –  –  –  –
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ii) Individually immaterial associates
During the year, the Group disposed of the investment in the Whitecoat joint venture, resulting in a one-off profit of $9.7 million. In the 
event that certain pre-determined revenues are achieved by Whitecoat over three years post sale, additional consideration may be 
receivable. No contingent asset has been recognised as at 30 June 2021.

2021
$m

2020
$m

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial associates and joint ventures – 0.7 

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of:

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations – (1.0)

Total comprehensive income – (1.0)

34. Related party transactions

a) Related party transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel are entitled to insurance policies provided at a discount dependant on length of service; in all other 
respects the policies are on normal terms and conditions.

There were no other related party transactions during the year, as there were no transactions where either party had the presence of 
control, joint or significant influence to affect the financial and operating policies of the other entity.

b) Key management personnel compensation

2021
$

2020
$

Short-term employee benefits  8,462,275  7,320,944 

Post-employment benefits  326,543  345,195 

Other long-term benefits  39,379  90,972 

Termination benefits  235,676  1,100,490 

Share-based payments  3,094,494  3,616,824 

  12,158,367  12,474,425 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 21 to 42. 

c) Transactions with other related parties

There were no transactions with other related parties during the year.

33. Interest in other entities continued
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35. Share-based payments

a) Long‑term incentive plan (LTIP)

Performance rights to acquire shares in nib holdings limited are granted to Executives under the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). 
Information relating to the LTIP is included in the Remuneration Report on page 34. The nib Holdings Ltd Share Ownership Plan Trust 
administers the Group’s Executive management Short-Term Incentive and Long-Term Incentive Share Plans. This Trust has been 
consolidated in accordance with Note 1(b).

Set out below is a summary of performance rights granted under the plan:

2021
Number of 

rights

2020
Number of 

rights

Balance at the start of the year  1,790,138  2,304,220 

Granted as compensation 716,918 546,774

Exercised (141,334) (628,895)

Other forfeitures (354,570) (431,961)

Balance at the end of the year 2,011,152 1,790,138

Vested and exercisable at the end of the year – –

The valuation methodology inputs for performance rights granted during the year ended 30 June 2021 included: 

a) Performance rights are granted for no consideration and vest subject to nib holdings limited EPS and TSR hurdle. 

b) Exercise price: $nil (2020: $nil) 

c) Grant date: 27 November 2020 and 8 April 2021 (2020: 11 December 2019 and 28 February 2020) 

d) Expiry date: 1 September 2024 (2020: 1 September 2023) 

e) Share price at grant date: $4.4760 (2020: $6.0675) 

f) Expected dividend yield: Dividends are assumed based on the expected dividend payout ratio is 60% to 70% of normalised net 
profit after tax (with the potential for special dividends above this range) 

b) Employee Share Acquisition (tax exempt) Plan (ESAP)

Eligible Australian employees were offered the opportunity to receive part of their salary in the form of shares. All permanent 
employees who were an employee at the date the offer was made were eligible to participate in the scheme. Employees may elect not 
to participate in the scheme.

ESAP is administered by the Board. Shares granted to the employees by the Board were acquired on-market via a third party trustee 
plan company.

Under the plan, participating employees were allocated an aggregate market value up to $1,000 worth of fully paid ordinary shares in 
nib holdings limited. Subsequent offers under ESAP are at the Board’s discretion.

Shares issued under the scheme may not be sold until the earlier of three years after issue or cessation of employment. In all other 
respects shares rank equally with other fully-paid ordinary shares on issue.

2021 2020

Number of shares purchased on-market under the plan to participating employees 64,894 69,440

The shares were allocated in two tranches. The first tranche of shares were for allocated on 26 August 2020 following nib’s FY20 full 
year results presentation at a volume weighted average price of $4.66. The remaining tranche of shares were allocated on 24 February 
2021 following nib’s FY21 half year results presentation at a volume weighted average price of $5.66.
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c) nib NZ Employee Share Purchase Scheme (ESPS)

The scheme rules were adopted on 7 November 2013. On 9 December 2013 eligible employees were offered the opportunity to 
receive part of their salary in the form of shares. All full-time and permanent part-time employees who were an employee as at 
9 December 2013 and the date shares were allocated to employees were eligible to participate in the scheme. Employees may elect 
not to participate in the scheme.

ESPS is administered by the Board. Shares granted to the employees by the Board were acquired on-market via a third party trustee 
plan company.

Under the scheme, participating employees were allocated an aggregate market value up to NZD $1,000 worth of fully paid ordinary 
shares in nib holdings limited. Subsequent offers under ESPS are at the Board’s discretion.

Shares issued under the scheme may not be sold until the earlier of three years after issue or cessation of employment. In all other 
respects shares rank equally with other fully-paid ordinary shares on issue.

2021 2020

Number of shares purchased on-market under the plan to participating employees 1,685 4,780

The shares were allocated in two tranches. The first tranche of shares were for allocated on 26 August 2020 following nib’s FY20 full 
year results presentation at a volume weighted average price of $4.66. The remaining tranche of shares were allocated on 24 February 
2021 following nib’s FY21 half year results presentation at a volume weighted average price of $5.66.

d) nib Salary Sacrifice Plan and Matching Plan

Business unit managers were offered the opportunity to receive part of their salary in the form of shares, with an additional amount of 
shares contributed by the Company. Employees may elect not to participate in the plan.

The plan is administered by the Board. Shares granted to the employees by the Board were acquired on-market via a third party 
trustee plan company.

Under the plan, participating employees were allocated an aggregate market value up to $10,000 worth of fully paid ordinary shares in 
nib holdings limited, made up of $5,000 salary sacrifice and $5,000 matching company component. Subsequent offers under the plan 
are at the Board’s discretion.

2021 2020

Number of shares purchased on-market under the plan to participating employees 52,814 56,712

Shares issued under the plan may not be sold until the earlier of three or seven years after issue, or cessation of employment. In all 
other respects shares rank equally with other fully paid ordinary shares on issue.

e) Salary Sacrifice Plan (NZ) and Matching Plan (NZ)

The plan rules were adopted on 28 October 2013. On 9 December 2013 New Zealand business unit managers were offered the 
opportunity to receive part of their salary in the form of shares, with an additional amount of shares contributed by the Company. 
Employees may elect not to participate in the plan.

The plan is administered by the Board. Shares granted to the employees by the Board were acquired on-market via a third party 
trustee plan company.

Under the plan, participating employees were allocated an aggregate market value up to NZD $10,000 worth of fully paid ordinary 
shares in nib holdings limited, made up of NZD $5,000 salary sacrifice and NZD $5,000 matching company component. Subsequent 
offers under the plan are at the Board’s discretion.

Shares issued under the scheme may not be sold until the earlier of three or seven years after issue, or cessation of employment. In 
all other respects shares rank equally with other fully paid ordinary shares on issue. 

2021 2020

Number of shares purchased on-market under the plan to participating employees 3,657 3,386

35. Share-based payments continued
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f) Short‑Term Performance Incentive (STI)

All eligible employees have a STI opportunity. For the MD/CEO the maximum target bonus opportunity is 125% of the base 
remuneration package with 50% of the calculated entitlement to be deferred into shares. For the CFO, CE ARHI and CEO NZ the 
maximum target bonus opportunity is 100% of the remuneration package with 50% of the calculated entitlement deferred into 
shares. For the CIO, COO and GELCRO the maximum target bonus opportunity is 80% of the remuneration package with 50% of the 
calculated entitlement deferred into shares. For other executives the maximum entitlement is 40% of the remuneration package with 
50% of the calculated entitlement deferred into shares.

The nib Holdings Ltd Share Ownership Plan Trust administers the Group’s Executive management Short-Term Incentive and 
Long-Term Incentive Share Plans. This Trust has been consolidated in accordance with Note1(b).

Shares issued by the Trust to the employees are acquired on-market prior to the issue. Shares held by the Trust and not yet issued to 
employees at the end of the reporting period are shown as treasury shares in financial statements; see Note 22(c).

Shares were purchased on market and brokerage fees are borne by nib health funds limited.

g) Expenses arising from share‑based payments transactions

2021
$m

2020
$m

Shares purchased on-market under ESAP and ESPS 0.3 0.4 

Shares purchased on-market under nib salary sacrifice plan and matching plan and salary sacrifice (NZ) rules and 
matching plan (NZ) 0.3 0.4 

Performance rights granted under LTIP 1.7 (0.4)

Shares purchased on-market under STI 0.9 2.0 

 3.2 2.4 

h) Accounting policy

The fair value of performance rights granted under the nib holdings Long-Term Incentive Plan is recognised as an employee benefit 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
performance rights granted, which includes any market performance conditions but excludes the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included 
in assumptions about the number of performance rights that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting 
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the Group 
revises its estimate of the number of performance rights that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It 
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The nib holdings Long-Term Incentive Plan is administered by the nib Holdings Ltd Share Ownership Plan Trust; see Note 22(d)(i). 
When the performance rights are exercised, the trust transfers the appropriate amount of shares to the employee.

Under the Employee Share Acquisition (tax exempt) Plan, the nib Salary Sacrifice Plan and Matching Plan and the Short-Term 
Performance Incentive, shares are acquired on-market and expensed. 



110 nib holdings limited | Annual Report 2021

notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

36. Parent entity financial information

The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:
2021

$m
2020

$m

Balance Sheet

ASSETS

Current assets 89.4 120.9 

Non-current assets 744.0 739.7 

Total assets 833.4 860.6 

Current liabilities 20.2 29.0 

Non-current liabilities 165.5 165.5 

Total liabilities 185.7 194.5 

NET ASSETS 647.7 666.1 

EQUITY

Share capital 401.1 396.5 

Share-based payments (7.9) (8.7)

Retained profits 254.5 278.3 

Total Equity 647.7 666.1 

Profit for the year 40.0 115.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year 40.0 115.1 

Refer to Note 29 for contingent liabilities of parent entity.

a) Accounting policy

The financial information for the parent entity, nib holdings limited, has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial 
statements, except as set out below. 

i)  Investments in 
subsidiaries, 
associates and joint 
venture entities

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost less any 
provision for impairment in the financial statements of nib holdings limited. Dividends received from 
associates are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss, rather than being deducted from the 
carrying amount of these investments.

ii) Tax consolidation 
legislation

nib holdings limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidated legislation.

The head entity, nib holdings limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for 
their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax 
consolidated group continues to be a standalone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, nib holdings limited also recognises the current 
tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully 
compensate nib holdings limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by nib 
holdings limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or 
unused tax credits that are transferred to nib holdings limited under the tax consolidation legislation. 
The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned 
entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement is due upon receipt of the funding 
advice from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. 
The head entity may also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay 
tax instalments.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised 
as current amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding 
agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.




